

Protecting Migrants, Curbing Irregular Migration?

A Dutch Case Study on the Evaluation of Information- and Awareness campaigns

Ismay Keus

Student number: 480773

In Partial Fulfilment of the Requirements for the Master of Science in Governance of Migration & Diversity (Public Administration)

Erasmus University Rotterdam – Faculty of Social and Behavioural Sciences

Supervisor and first reader: Prof. dr. P.W.A. (Peter) Scholten

Second reader: Dr. M. (Maria) Schiller

Date of completion: 4 August 2020

Word count: 28.062

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I am highly indebted to the respondents of this research. Besides their willingness to engage in a highly elaborate interview, they were always prepared to answer additional questions. This thesis research would not have been possible without their enthusiasm and I cannot thank them enough for their help.

Secondly, I would like to thank my thesis supervisor, Peter Scholten, for his continuing support throughout this writing process. This thesis research was written during the COVID-19 'corona' pandemic, a very tumultuous time for universities in the Netherlands. I feel highly fortunate to live in times where in which online education is possible – writing this thesis would not have been possible otherwise.

Finally, I would like to thank all my loved ones for their support during this writing process. Working from home has not always been easy, especially since I am used to studying in the university library, a place that I -somewhat ironically- missed the most while writing this thesis. A special thanks go to my dear friends Arjen Ploeger and Michal van der Toorn for their elaborate proofreading.

Ismay Keus

August 2020

Table of contents

Acknowledgements	2
Summary	4
Chapter 1: Introduction	5
1.1 Information campaigns in the context of migration management	7
1.2 Societal and academic relevance	8
Chapter 2: Theoretical framework	11
2.1 Evaluation in the policy process	11
2.2 Four discourses on policy evaluation	12
2.3 Institutional factors shaping the policy evaluation process	17
2.4 Expectations	22
Chapter 3: Methodology	24
3.1 Operationalisation	24
3.2 Research design	26
3.3 Case selection	27
3.4 Data collection and analysis	29
Chapter 4: The Migrants as Messengers campaigns	32
4.1 Introduction to the project	32
4.2 Project evaluation analysis	33
4.3 Institutional setting of the project evaluation	39
Chapter 5: The IOM information campaigns in Albania	45
5.1 Introduction to the project	45
5.2 Project evaluation analysis	46
5.3 Institutional setting of the project evaluation	52
Chapter 6: Comparative analysis	58
6.1 Evaluation analysis	58
6.2 Institutional analysis	61
Chapter 7: Conclusion and policy recommendations	69
7.1 Conclusion	69
7.2 Theoretical and empirical contributions	71
7.3 Limitations	73
7.4 Policy recommendations	75
References	78
Appendices	84
Appendix I: list of analysed documents	84

Summary

Migration-related information and- awareness campaigns are defined as international public information campaigns, implemented in countries of origin with a relatively high number of 'irregular' emigrants. These campaigns aim at informing potential migrants on the dangers of the irregular journey, the difficulties of undocumented life in destination countries, or the futility of the journey as they are likely to be sent back to their country of origin. While the popularity of these campaigns has significantly increased among European member states, it is unclear whether they are effective for curbing irregular migration to the European Union (Schans & Optekamp, 2016).

This research analyses the evaluation discourses surrounding the *Migrants as Messengers* campaign and the *Preventing Unsafe Migration from Albania Towards European Member State* campaign (Fischer, 1999). *Migrants as Messengers* is focused on irregular migration from West Africa to the European Union and is funded by the Dutch Ministry of Foreign Affairs, whereas the Albanian information campaigns are funded by the Dutch Repatriation & Departure Service. The *Migrants as Messengers* evaluation is far more advanced in measuring the impact of the campaign activities on the risk perception and migration intention of potential migrants. However, the evaluation of the IOM campaign in Albania allows for a more critical perspective on the relevance of information campaigns for irregular migration to the European Union. These diverging policy evaluations can be explained by institutional factors: the involved governance actors adhere to different organisational cultures, form different types of networks with other actors, and pursue different policy interests.

Although the evaluations did not prove that the campaigns were effective for the goal of curbing irregular migration, the information campaigns are still deemed successful enough by the involved stakeholders to continue with follow-up campaigns. Campaigns are deemed valuable because they can protect people on the move, because they can inform the public on job opportunities in the country, and because they can facilitate diplomatic relationships between the sending and receiving state. Furthermore, a relatively low number of potential migrants needs to refrain from irregularly migrating to the Netherlands in order to make an information campaign efficient. This research therefore draws attention to the fact that information campaigns should be analysed beyond the goal of changing migrant behaviour, in order to grasp their growing popularity in migration policy.

Chapter 1: Introduction

A piece of bread as the only meal for three days, Brown remembers as if it were yesterday. Back home in #Nigeria and currently a #MigrantsAsMessengers volunteer, he refers to the trip he undertook as a 'suicide mission' that he can't recommend to anyone (Migrants as Messengers, 2020).

This is the description of one of the many video posts on the Facebook page of *Migrants as Messengers*, an awareness campaign of the International Organisation for Migration (IOM) conducted in several West African countries. In these videos, migrants who have returned to their country of origin talk about their personal experiences with irregular migration. The videos, among other campaign activities, aim to increase awareness on the risks of irregular migration among potential migrants, in the hope that they will make safer migration decisions. But how do you measure if these videos are successful? More importantly, for which purpose should they be successful? Can these videos simultaneously be used to reduce the number of irregular migrants to the European Union, for example? And if not, are these information campaigns also valuable for other purposes?

Evaluation research plays an important role in providing answers to these questions related to the policy field of information- and awareness campaigns (hereafter: information campaigns). Although public information campaigns are commonly used by governments to inform their citizens on issues related to tax or health policy for example, the target group of this type of campaigns are non-citizens across the borders of the nation-state. In this case, governments fund international organisations such as IOM to target potential migrants from countries with high irregular emigration numbers. The campaigns can differ considerably in content, depending on whether it is primarily focused on informing this target group on the dangers involved in irregular migration, the difficulties of undocumented life in destination countries, or the futility of the journey as they are likely to be sent back to their country of origin (Schans & Optekamp, 2016). Moreover, a variety of communication tools and media is used for these campaigns, such as social media platforms, TV shows, leaflets, or workshop-type activities in which dialogue is facilitated to raise awareness on these topics (Carling & Hernández-Carretero, 2011).

While the popularity of this policy tool has significantly increased among West European countries, these information campaigns have received considerable criticism, both from an academic angle (see for example Browne 2015, Nieuwenhuys & Pécoud 2007) as well as to

some extent in the media (Vermeulen, 2020). The criticism on information campaigns can generally be divided in two strands. Most significantly, their effectiveness and impact have been questioned, as their functioning is based on several poorly-evaluated assumptions. For example, policymakers assume that potential migrants decide to migrate irregularly out of a lack of objective risk information, that they automatically trust new information provided by these campaigns, and that staying instead of migrating is always a viable alternative (Schans & Optekamp, 2016).

Others argue that information campaigns, while presented to promote regular migration and prevent humanitarian issues, are implicitly used by ('Western') states that wish to avoid the obligations imposed by international law (Oeppen, 2016; Pécoud, 2018). Referring to concepts such as 'preventative *refoulement*', critics argue that these states and intergovernmental actors take on a 'victimhood approach' to justify their actions by underlining the need to protect potential victims from human traffickers (Geiger & Pécoud, 2010 p. 7). As a result, information campaigns promote the narrative that smugglers and traffickers are the primary cause of increasing irregular migration levels to the European Union, and serve as the main threat to the migrants' safety and wellbeing. However, this ignores the more structural reasons why people might want or need to leave their country, and fails to acknowledge that European border control is the key reason why people need to rely on the services of traffickers or smugglers (Oeppen, 2016, p. 11). Some even argue that the promotion of this narrative is to the benefit of European policymakers, because it shifts responsibility for the problems related to irregular migration to the individual migrant and his or her smugglers, rather than the European Union and its individual member states as political institutions (Weiss & Tschirhart, 1994).

This research seeks to reflect on these issues by explicating the discourses employed for the evaluation of two information campaigns funded by the Dutch government. Although other member states have been active in this policy field longer, the Dutch government has recently become one of the most important 'donors' of these campaigns in the European Union (European Migration Network, 2017). Funding for these campaigns runs through both the Ministry of Foreign Affairs (BZ) and the Repatriation & Departure Service (DT&V). These policy departments collaborate with the International Organisation for Migration (IOM) for the implementation of these projects. After a critical report by the Dutch Research & Documentation Centre (WODC) on the topic (Schans & Optekamp, 2016), in which the researchers concluded that 'there are reasons to believe that information campaigns are not effective' for the goal of combatting irregular migration, the Minister for Migration and the

Minister for Foreign Trade & Development Cooperation communicated in a letter to the House of Representatives that the involved ministries will strive to enhance the effectiveness of information campaigns (Dijkhoff & Ploumen, 2017). In doing so, they recognised the importance of bringing attention to the evaluation component of these campaigns in the design of the project.

In order to explore how and why information campaigns funded by Dutch government actors proceeded to be evaluated in different ways, I will compare the institutional setting of the IOM *Migrants as Messengers* information campaigns with the institutional setting of the IOM information campaigns in Albania. The following research question is used:

How are information- and awareness campaigns evaluated and how can these evaluation patterns be explained?

This research question can be divided into the following sub-questions:

- 1) How are the *Migrants as Messengers* campaigns and the IOM information campaigns in Albania evaluated?
- 2) What macro-, meso-, and micro-institutional factors can be identified that are relevant for the evaluation discourses employed for these information campaigns?

1.1 Information campaigns in the context of migration management

Information campaigns should be contextualised within the broader global policy discourse of 'migration management'. Since the post-Cold war era, the general idea has arisen that a global and holistic regime of rules and norms is needed to successfully address the fact that migration can generate real 'crises', such as the 2015 'refugee crisis' inside the European Union. Instead of the sudden, unexpected influx of migrants to (Western) states, migration should be better 'managed' in order to turn it into a more orderly and predictable process, which structurally benefits the migrant, the sending and receiving state (Geiger & Pécoud, 2010).

Migration management has gone far beyond the state border, and is now also aimed at influencing or intercepting potential migrants in transit and sending regions. This extraterritorialisation of migration governance is not only driven by state actors: intergovernmental organisations (IGOs), such as the International Organisation for Migration (IOM) and other non-state or private actors, play a large role in the implementation of policies on behalf of governments. However, IOM is not only a service provider, but also shapes governments' decisions by providing scientific or technical expertise to them (Geiger & Pécoud, 2010, p. 5). In this sense, migration experts employed by these IGOs, but also NGOs, research institutes

and other corporations, engage in migration management discourses and reproduce what has been called the 'irregular migration mantra' (Handmaker & Mora, 2014). Indeed, the focus on making migration more orderly and predictable has been accompanied with the increasing problematisation of 'irregular migration', creating a dichotomy in which the movement of people is divided between mobility that takes place inside and outside the regulatory norms of the sending, transit and receiving countries (Browne 2015).

In order to 'manage' these irregular migration flows, classical 'hard' migration control initiatives, such as border control surveillance or deportation of people to their country or origin, have increasingly been accompanied with alternative, 'soft' approaches that put more emphasis on persuasion and advice (Carling & Hernandez-Carretero, 2011; De Jong & Dannecker, 2017). Compared to most other policy tools, information campaigns attempt to produce policy results without altering incentives or authority systems (Weiss & Tschirhart, 1994). In this vein, information campaigns are not directly intended to stop or deter irregular migration, but to raise awareness on the fact that opting for irregular migration is often an irrational choice, considering the dangers of the journey and the likelihood of deportation back to the country of origin (Van Bemmel, 2020). Moreover, information campaigns are conducted in order to counter wrong information disseminated by human traffickers or 'criminal' smugglers (Oeppen, 2016). The assumption is made that if potential migrants become truly aware of these risks, they will refrain from migrating irregularly. In other words, information campaigns contribute to migration management with 'perception management': images, videos, or stories from returned migrants are used as a tool to govern mobility (Heller, 2014).

1.2 Societal and academic relevance

Migration-related information campaigns have increasingly gained attention in academia. As mentioned, most of these studies are focused on their lack of effectiveness and impact on changing irregular migration behaviour (Schans & Optekamp, 2016). These studies either reveal the assumptions that information campaigns make on their functioning (Heller, 2014; Nieuwenhuys & Pécoud, 2007; Pécoud, 2010) or refer to qualitative evidence suggesting that information campaigns have limited effect on migrants' decisions and behaviour (Browne 2015; Hernández-Carretero & Carling, 2012). The general argument is that it is impossible to control risk information in migration-sending countries, and that socio-economic factors play a (much) more decisive factor in the decision-making process of potential irregular migrants (McNevin et al., 2016; Van Bemmel, 2020).

Although the lack of adequate evaluation tools has been identified as one of the causes of the ineffectiveness of information campaigns, it is not clear why impact assessments are largely missing from this policy field (Brekke & Thorbjørnsrud, 2018). The existing literature hints towards several factors that provide for possible explanations. Firstly, Browne (2015), Heller (2014) and McNevin (2016) mention the methodological challenges related to evaluating the impact of these campaigns. It is nearly impossible to track any reduction in the number of irregular departures and to contain the precise impact of the techniques deployed in the campaign. In this vein, Schans & Optekamp (2016) refer to other public information campaigns, such as awareness-raising campaigns on health issues, to indicate that it is generally difficult to isolate the campaign effects on behavioural changes. Secondly, Van Bemmel (2020) and Nieuwenhuys & Pécoud (2007) argue that evaluations are generally conducted and financed by those who have implemented the programmes, which leaves little space for critical perspective. Related to this, McNevin et al. (2016) argue that IOM tends to evaluate its projects shortly after the project implementation and via 'compelling numeric indicators' in order to demonstrate campaign success and secure funding for future campaigns. Thirdly, Oeppen (2016) argues that evaluation components are deemed less relevant, because information campaigns have more of a symbolic function anyway, fulfilling the need of policymakers to do something about the 'migration crisis' in front of the European voting public. However, these arguments have rarely been substantiated by empirical analysis. Drawing on theoretical insights from public administration, an institutional comparison on the evaluation processes of two information campaigns contributes to filling this important gap in the academic literature.

Furthermore, the existing literature on evaluation processes primarily revolves around the main implementing organisation of these campaigns: the IOM (Heller, 2014; McNevin et al., 2016; Nieuwenhuys & Pécoud, 2007). Little is known about the role of European government actors in this regard, besides their alleged policy interests in funding information campaigns (Oeppen, 2016). This is striking, considering the fact that IOM 'donors' have large influence on the characteristics of information campaigns, including evaluation processes (McNevin et al., 2016). In this regard, it has been argued that the Netherlands, along with the United Kingdom, has 'one of the most broadly developed evaluation systems specifically on migration policy in the European Union'. Yet, 'it is unclear from the Dutch case how much direct impact this advice has on migration policy' (Van Selm, 2008, p. 92). By investigating the institutional characteristics of government actors on specific project evaluations, this research allows for a better understanding on these actors.

Besides its relevance to migration studies, this research also has wider implications for public administration literature. Although the role (and lack) of evaluation research in policy processes has consistently been subject to academic debate (Sanderson, 2000), the type of discourse employed for evaluation processes has rarely been linked to explanatory factors grounded in new institutionalist thought (March & Olsen, 1984). Considering that information campaigns are designed, implemented and evaluated in complex policy systems, their evaluation processes are influenced by a wide range of factors situated on the micro-, meso- and macro-level. Institutionalist frameworks are able to capture these processes by transcending 'the traditional dualistic treatment of society/individual and structure/agency' through the identification of informal rules that guide ideas about evaluation in policy systems (Sanderson, 2000, p. 444). This research -albeit modestly- contributes to the development of a holistic understanding on the institutional circumstances that determine how a certain type of evaluation is applied to a certain policy programme and why this is the case (Fischer, 1999). In other words, by combining public administration literature with migration studies literature, this research contributes to new theoretical insights for both academic fields, showing the importance of multi-disciplinary research.

Information campaigns have gained considerable prominence in migration policy and will likely become more relevant in the future. Coordination among the EU member states has been formally established with a specific European Migration Network (EMN) Working Group, and funding for these campaigns are now also possible through the shared Asylum, Migration and Integration Fund (AMIF) along with existing funds such as the EU Emergency Trust Fund for Africa. The broader aim of this research is to contribute to understanding why these information campaigns are implemented, in order to raise attention on a topic which has rarely been covered by Dutch mainstream media, and has not been subject to substantial political debate. Moreover, this research draws attention to the importance of holistic evaluation research, especially for policy tools such as information campaigns (Fischer, 1999). Evaluators of soft policy tools, which are based on persuasion and advice, face multiple methodological challenges if they seek to measure whether campaign activities can cause behavioural changes (Weiss & Tschirhart, 1994). By making explicit why information campaigns are valuable regardless of these immeasurable effects, evaluators can push the current debate on the usefulness of migration-related information campaigns further.

Chapter 2: Theoretical framework

In this chapter, I build a conceptual model by focussing on literary themes in the field of public administration and migration studies. This theoretical framework, which seeks to combine insights from both academic fields, allows for a lens through which I will conduct my empirical analysis. After introducing the general academic debate on the role of evaluation research in policy processes in section 2.1, I introduce Fischer's evaluation typologies (1999) in section 2.2. In section 2.3, I elaborate on the institutionalist framework of this research. In section 2.4, I combine the insights from section 2.2 and 2.3 by deriving several expectations from the highlighted literature.

2.1 Evaluation in the policy process

Evaluation is understood in different ways, both academically and in the practical field of policy evaluation. I follow Wollmann's definition (2017), who defines policy evaluation as 1) an analytical tool which investigates all information pertinent to the *impact* and/or *performance* of a policy programme and 2) a policy process, demarcating a part in the policy cycle, which involves reporting this information back to the policy-making process. Evaluations are often a standard exercise in policy cycles, but this does not imply that policymakers plan and implement policy programmes that (scientifically) work most effectively and efficiently for the realisation of their policy goals (Bekkers et al., 2018). In fact, the call for policies to be 'evidence-based' has sparked notable academic controversy on the role of scientific evaluation research in public policy (Hammersley, 2005). Some question the empirical significance of evidence-based policymaking, especially for migration policy, as scholars have underlined that the efforts by states to regulate and restrict immigration are not effective (Castles, 2004; Czaika & de Haas, 2016). Others argue that evidence-based policymaking can lead to depoliticization by obscuring the relevant social values at stake (Wesselink et al., 2014). Similarly, migration scholars have argued that migration is increasingly approached from a technocratic perspective, 'obscuring the ongoing politics at stake in questions of human mobility' (McNevin et al., 2016, p. 225). I follow Parkhurst (2016), who argues that scientific evidence from policy evaluations can provide us with the benefits and limitations of policy programmes, but cannot tell us what the right choice is between different policy alternatives. This requires the establishment of evaluation systems that 'work to embed key normative principles about evidence utilisation into policy processes – systems that govern the use of evidence within policymaking' (p. 8).

Given that migration has increasingly become a mainstream policy area, and that electorates increasingly pressure for governments to be 'in control' of migration issues, have led to the

recurring argument that more elaborate and adequate evaluation systems should be established for this policy field (Chappell & Laczko, 2011; Van Selm, 2008). These evaluation systems constitute the structures, rules, and norms that dictate how evaluations are used, as well as when and by whom (Parkhurst, 2016, p. 132). I therefore adopt an institutional approach in this research (March & Olsen, 1984). This means that I acknowledge that the actors involved in evaluation processes are facilitated or constrained by the institutional rules of their operating field (Bekkers et al., 2018). These institutional rules are the outcomes of previous processes, preferences, and ideas. As a result, policymakers and evaluators are engaged in an imperfect form of analysis to evaluate future consequences of their decisions. They deliberately consider policy alternatives and make assessments of earlier policy outcomes, but they are ultimately bound by their institutional setting, that determines which information comes available and which information does not (Schulz, 2014). What 'counts' as evidence is therefore a reflection of the institutional setting in which this evidence is reproduced (Parkhurst, 2016, p. 113).

2.2 Four discourses on policy evaluation

In order to analyse the policy evaluation process of information campaigns, this research builds on the post-empiricist work of Fischer (1999), who has developed an elaborate framework on different discursive approaches to policy evaluation. Fischer's work is based on the notion that empirical data, based on 'objective criteria', cannot be offered as value-neutral evidence. Referring to instances in which the outcomes of policy evaluations have been contested by different interest groups, he argues that evaluation should therefore not be confined to the verification of project objectives only (Sanderson, 2000). By examining the wider impact and underlying ideological principles of policy programmes, evaluators can contribute to the resolution of controversies surrounding policy problems (Scholten & van Nispen, 2008).

According to Fischer, evaluative discourses generally fall into four types, each representing a different practical discourse. The first two types fall into 'first-order policy evaluation', in which a policy programme is evaluated either on its specific programme outcomes on the microlevel, or the extent to which the intervention is relevant for the context in which it is implemented. With second-order evaluation on the macro-level, the policy evaluation focuses either on the instrumental impact of the policy goals on societal systems as a whole, or it evaluates the normative principles and values underlying this societal order (2003, p. 192).

Technical verification

Based on the rules of empirical inquiry in the social sciences, the goal of the first evaluative discourse is to verify the programme on its impact, effectiveness, or efficiency (1999, p. 27). Depending on which methods fits best for the specific research question, there are two general methods within technical verification: experimental programme research or cost-benefit analysis. Experimental programme research is generally targeted at measuring the impact of a policy programme. If the experimental data shows a positive correlation between the policy intervention and the treatment group's responses, this policy programme is considered to be 'effective'. Within these 'impact' or 'outcome' evaluations, an 'evidence hierarchy' for research methods has arisen, which puts systematic reviews and evidence synthesis at the top, followed by randomised controlled trials (RCTs) and cohort studies (Greve, 2017). Specifically, randomised controlled trials and other (quasi-) experimental approaches are considered the 'gold standard' for studying the causal relationship between policy intervention and outcome, as randomisation eliminates selection bias, thereby optimising the internal validity of the study (Liket, 2017, p. 183). However, the results of RCTs remain highly dependent upon on the context in which the policy intervention took place. The external validity of the policy intervention therefore remains unguaranteed (Peters et al., 2016).

As mentioned in chapter 1, discussions within migration literature exist on the impact and effectiveness of information campaigns. Multiple academics and IOM researchers have drawn attention to the fact that 'the evidence base for programming and policymaking in this area is strikingly limited', which obstructs knowledge on the full impact of these campaigns (Browne 2015). According to a systematic literature review on campaign evaluations related to *Migrants as Messengers*, a common issue is the lack of clearly defined project objectives or target groups. Often, the project objectives are aimed at 'awareness raising', which is hard to measure and does not reflect changes in (intended) migration behaviour (Tjaden et al., 2018). Furthermore, evaluations hardly make use of control-group designs or pre- and post-measurements, which means that they 'did not meet minimum standards for robust evidence on programme effects' (p. 20).

Through cost-benefit analysis, the tangible outputs of a policy programme can be balanced against the programme inputs (funds, human resources, or time) in order to establish whether the benefits outweigh the costs of the policy intervention (Fischer, 1999, p. 35). If this is the case, the policy programme is considered 'efficient'. In order to conduct a cost-benefit analysis, monetary values should be determined for the inputs and outputs of the programme. Regarding cost-benefit analysis, Weiss & Tschirhart (1994) argue that public information campaigns are

relatively cheap to implement compared to other policy instruments. Especially in countries where public resources are scarce and transportation and communication infrastructures are limited, information campaigns are cheaper to conduct than other sorts of government service or regulation (p. 96). This might apply to migration-related information campaigns as well, which are generally implemented in countries that may lack this type of infrastructure.

Situational validation

A policy evaluation can also examine the extent to which the specific programme objectives are relevant or appropriate to the situational context to which they are applied (Fischer, 1999, p. 20). Practically, this involves an assessment of the 'problem situation' in which the policy intervention takes place. Through qualitative measures, such as case studies, direct observation and in-person interviews, the evaluator seeks to find whether the programme objectives are relevant for this identified problem situation. Policy evaluations using situational validation can also mention whether certain aspects of this problem context allow for exceptions to be made on the policy objectives, for example if a policy intervention leads to secondary or unexpected outcomes that would compromise or negate the policy objectives (p. 73). Finally, this type of policy evaluation seeks to identify whether any conflicting policy objectives exist that raise different judgements on the way the project should be evaluated. When projects are evaluated on its effectiveness for one objective, this could raise objections by other stakeholders involved on the relevance of the project for other purposes (p. 75).

Often, the identified problem situation in the case of information campaigns is the rise of irregular migration numbers to a certain country or area. This is accompanied with the rise of trafficking victims, or the rise of asylum seekers with low prospects of obtaining asylum (Pécoud, 2010). Misperceptions or lack of information about the irregular journey and stay in country of destination are perceived as (one of the) causes of this irregular migration behaviour (Van Bemmel, 2020). Discussions in the situational validation discourse pertain to the question whether awareness-raising activities are relevant measures for solving this problem situation. As mentioned, migration scholars have argued that irregular migration is not necessarily caused by a lack of information or risk perception, but is primarily a result of a lack of socio-economic opportunities in the country of origin (Hernández-Carretero & Carling, 2012; Van Bemmel, 2020). Furthermore, awareness-raising activities are focused on measuring individual changes in perception or behaviour, whereas scholars have highlighted that irregular migration is often a collective decision-making process, or is the result of general social expectations (Nieuwenhuys & Pécoud, 2007; Mbaye, 2014). In other words, these discussions raise questions

on the validity of indicators probed to measure the value of information campaigns as tools to influence irregular migration behaviour (Fischer, 1999).

Societal vindication

On the macro-level, societal vindication can be conducted in order to investigate the effects of the policy programme on the societal system as a whole. This type of policy evaluation seeks to elucidate whether or not the policy programme is in line with broader societal arrangements (Fischer, 1999, p. 111). In order to assess this empirically, a policy evaluator must clarify the institutional arrangements which the policy project seeks to influence or facilitate. In this sense, Fischer compares the practices of social vindication with 'theory-testing models of policy research', (DeHaven-Smith, 1988) which involves the practice of uncovering policymakers' underlying assumptions about the functioning of the policy interventions. Secondly, the policy evaluator may choose to conduct a large-scale empirical evaluation to examine the policy's desired impact on these normative processes, and then compare these results with other policy goals that may have value for the same social system. This may come in the form of a 'systems-level' impact evaluation or cost-benefit analysis, in order to include a wider range of 'externalities' that are usually left out of first-order technical verifications (Fischer, 1999, p. 123).

Academics have highlighted several general assumptions that policymakers use with regards to information campaigns. In this vein, it is important to mention that the report of the Research & Documentation Centre (WODC), which laid the foundation of the Dutch policy on information campaigns, corresponds with this first step in societal vindication (Schans & Optekamp, 2016). On request of the Directorate of Migration Policy of the Ministry of Justice & Security, the researchers investigated the role of information campaigns in curbing irregular migration. The WODC report used a 'realist evaluation approach' (Pawson et al., 2005) by 'seek[ing] to unpack the mechanism of how complex interventions work or fail in particular contexts and settings'. According to the report, policymakers generally assume that potential migrants lack information or rely on false information from smugglers and/or traffickers, and automatically trust the information that the campaign seeks to communicate. Secondly, it is assumed that potential migrants rationally calculate risk and that fear appeal messages can therefore scare off aspiring migrants. Thirdly, by targeting individual migrants, it is assumed that migration decisions are made individually, rather than in family units. Finally, it is assumed that staying put in the country of origin is a viable alternative. Based on these arguable assumptions, the authors concluded that there is reason to believe that information campaigns

are not an effective policy tool for changing irregular migration behaviour (Schans & Optekamp, 2016).

Alternatively, discussions on the level of societal vindication may turn to the question how the policy project has symbolic value for society as a whole, regardless of its instrumental impact. For example, a public information campaign may be designed to promote and facilitate a basic value that must extend to all citizens in a country (p. 55). Weiss & Tschirhart (1994) mention that national governments can use information campaigns to create common understandings and bridge differences among different social groups (p. 93). A campaign may therefore still have value in ways that are not easily expressed in numbers. In a similar vein, Schans & Optekamp (2016) argue that information campaigns, despite their uncertain impact, remain a popular policy tool because 'they can also symbolize government concern to the general population in migrant receiving countries' (p. 23). This is particularly the case when information campaigns are conducted in countries with a high influx of asylum seekers with low chances of obtaining asylum to inform its population on stricter policies. In this respect, information campaigns fulfil the need of government actors to 'be seen to be doing something' to control migration to countries of destination and simultaneously prevent humanitarian atrocities (Weiss & Tschirhart, 1994, p. 94). Information campaigns are a well-suited policy tool for this, as they show that government actors are controlling the European borders, yet in an 'unaggressive' way without physical confrontation between migrants and border guards, which is unpopular among a significant part of the voting public (Oeppen, 2016, p. 9).

Ideological choice

The final type of policy evaluation seeks to test the ideological principles of policy programmes. In order to identify these paradigmatic assumptions and values that underlie the belief systems of policy programmes, the evaluator may envision an ideal model of society which provides for the 'evaluative standards and principles against which empirical reality can be judged' (p. 163).). In other words, apart from the methods to measure the empirical reality of a policy programme, the evaluator also deploys interpretive methods such as social imagination, political intuition, and moral speculation. If it turns out that the current social order is unable to resolve 'basic values conflicts', the evaluator may look at other social orders, in order to investigate whether these social orders 'equitably accommodate the relevant interest and needs that the conflicts reflect' (p. 165). For example, the evaluator can look beyond the utility of a programme -often expressed in cost-benefit analyses-, and take on a 'rights-based' approach to evaluate the intrinsic qualities of the actions of a policy programme. In this sense, the evaluation

examines the extent to which the programme has contributed to justice and has enhanced the rights for people to the most extensive total system of basic liberties (p. 167).

The global policy discourse on migration management entails several ideological principles that can play a role in the evaluation of information campaigns. Geiger & Pécoud argue that the ideal world of migration management is a so-called 'triple win', in which migration serves in the best interest of the migrant, sending, and receiving state. Ideally, 'good migrants are well-informed, respectful of the law, flexible to market needs, ready to circulate and eager to contribute to the development of their home country' (2010, p. 17). Moreover, potential migrants are 'perfectly cognisant of migration realities and, consequently, of how they should behave' in order to best serve the interests of the states in-between which they live (Pécoud, 2010, p. 187). Rather than assuming that migrants *are* rational actors – as Schans & Optekamp (2016) argue – information campaigns thus pertain to the idea that migrants *should become* rational actors (Heller, 2014).

The academic literature is divided on the extent to which migration management discourse relates to (human) rights-based frameworks (De Jong & Dannecker, 2017). Critics argue that migration management is inherently neoliberal and therefore prioritises market interests over human rights (Basok & Piper, 2012). In this sense, the 'triple win' narrative negates the fact that the best interest of the migrant does not always align with the interests of state actors (Geiger & Pécoud, 2010). Others argue that actors such as the IOM are part of the 'liberal global migration governance camp', that are struggling to become hegemonic as it falls between the national sovereignty project and the rights-based approach (Georgi & Schaltral, 2010). McNevin et al. (2016) argue that actors within migration management tend to use a *kind of* humanitarianism that ultimately serves the border security of nation-states, instead of the best interest of migrants or local populations (p. 237). Based on these insights, it can be argued that rights-based or humanitarian frameworks are interpreted and deployed for multiple reasons and goals in the context of migration management.

2.3 Institutional factors shaping the policy evaluation process

I define a *policy evaluation system* as the organisational norms and conventions of behaviour, the coordination structures and networks, and the habits and belief systems which are relevant for a policy evaluation (Turnpenny et al., 2008) For a conceptualisation of the institutional factors that determine the characteristics of this evaluation system, it is useful to distinguish between a rational and institutional model of policy analysis (Sanderson, 2000). The rational model suggests that the type of policy evaluation employed is the result of micro-institutional

arrangements, such as general political commitment and the availability of financial and human resources for the evaluation (Turnpenny, 2008, p. 760). Although these micro-factors are important, they only represent a part of the picture, and are often the outcome of broader or deeper institutional factors (Klijn & Koppenjan, 2012, p. 242). I therefore expand the scope of my research to an examination of the institutional opportunities and constraints on the macro-level and meso-level, referring to broader institutional norms and rules on evaluation processes, as well as the type of relationships and coordination procedures among the multiple actors involved in the evaluation (p. 768). Utilising institutionalism is in line with Fischer's work, that ultimately aims to identify which institutional factors are necessary for the democratisation of policy evaluation processes without abandoning the empirical methods that currently exist in mainstream policy evaluation. By designing processes and institutions whereby (second-order) evaluation frames can complement, or sometimes compete with, the currently existing evaluation discourses, this will ultimately enhance processes of deliberation and policy learning (Giorgio et al., 2002).

Macro-institutional factors

The macro-level is concerned with the institutional opportunities and constraints beyond the specific context of the information campaign, and refers to the broader organisational culture in which projects and their evaluations take place. In the context of information campaigns, McNevin et al. (2016) refer to developments of New Public Management in the public sector (Lane, 2000). Governments have increasingly outsourced activities that were previously conducted by their own departments to private and non-governmental actors (Duffield, 2001). As a result, IGOs such as the IOM are functioning as 'service providers', whereas the government actors function as 'donors'. IOM in particular receives little regular funding from its donors and depends largely upon ongoing project-to-project funding, which has considerable consequence for evaluation processes (Geiger & Pécoud, 2010). In this context, evaluations have the function to demonstrate campaign success, in order to quickly fulfil the terms of the contract and enhance the reputation of the IOM for similar contracts in the future (McNevin et al., 2016). Instead of measuring the long-term, holistic effects of IOM activities, evaluations thus tend to rely upon quantifiable measures, such as the numbers of people attending campaign events, or the number of people reporting change in behaviour. In other words, the 'existential' institutional constraints on part of IOM tend to produce evaluations within months of campaign delivery via numeric indicators, which give little indication of the length of time that changes in behaviour might endure, or whether changes in perception may actually lead to migration behaviour (p. 233).

Furthermore, this indicates that governments acting as the 'donor' of the policy programme are often also in charge of the funding of the policy evaluation (Wollmann 2017). Based on this, it can be assumed that government actors have considerable influence over the characteristics of the evaluation process with regard to information campaigns, as they can ultimately determine the financial resources available for the evaluation (Turnpenny, 2008, p. 764). Information campaigns are not always funded by the Ministry of Home Affairs or Interior Ministry that are typically associated with migration policy. Since most information campaigns are also designed to inform and help migrants, rather than the sole purpose of deterring irregular migration, this enables funding from development and humanitarian budget lines (Pécoud, 2010, p. 195). The responsible ministry for the information campaign has a large influence on the design and evaluation of information campaigns, as its organisational characteristics can (partially) determine what the evaluation seeks to measure and which aspects of the evidence flowing from this evaluation is used to determine success or failure of the policy programme. For example, formal laws, regulations and procedures on part of the government actor may oblige that certain evaluation processes are systematically part of policy programmes (Turnpenny et al., 2008; Van Selm, 2008). However, these characteristics are also informed by the more informal 'values, norms, incentives and taken-for-granted beliefs' on behalf of the organisation (Sanderson, 2000, p. 444). The organisational culture towards the role of evaluation in policymaking is therefore also important to consider.

Meso-institutional factors

The meso-level is concerned with the networks and relationships between the actors involved with a specific information campaign. These actors interact in a governance network, in which the government and implementing agency of an information campaign 'develop processes of interaction and communication' with various individuals, groups, and organisations for the implementation of the project and the evaluation (Klijn & Koppenjan, 2012). As mentioned, information campaigns involve highly complex governance networks: IGOs are typically involved as service providers for the implementation of the project, government actors serve as the funders or 'donors' of these project, and local NGOs in countries of origin are responsible for conveying the messages of the campaign on the local level (Nieuwenhuys & Pécoud, 2007). Occasionally, authorities of the country of origin are involved as well, either in the

implementation of the information campaign or by providing assistance in less direct ways, such as determining the target groups of information campaigns.

The evaluation of information campaigns mostly adds to the complexity of these governance networks with the involvement of specific evaluation actors, and the characteristics of this specific governance network influence the policy evaluation process in multiple ways. Firstly, this is expressed by the type of actors involved in the governance network. Participation of think tanks, external consultants and independent academics can facilitate review processes of policy evaluations, or provide examples on how to conduct certain types of evaluation (Koon et al., 2013). 'Communities of practice', such as expert panels and technical working groups, are an institutionalised result of these networks, in which these experiences are shared in a more consistent manner (Gornitzka & Sverdrup, 2008).

However, an assessment of the types of involved stakeholders do not necessarily reflect the quality of the relationship between the stakeholders (Balthasar, 2009). Coordination procedures and intra-organisational communication intensity reveal how these relationships are manifested. Van Selm (2008) points out that mutual trust among the involved stakeholders is necessary in order to communicate openly and honestly about programme failures. Moreover, certain types of evaluations can be costly, but can be coordinated through multi-funder constructions, as long as the funders have mutual interests. However, building and sustaining these networks requires considerable human resources of policymakers, who need sufficient time and expertise to establish and maintain connections with the co-funders (Van Selm, 2008).

Finally, an important issue related to the meso-institutional setting is the independency of the evaluation. Independency is influenced by both the location of the policy evaluation (internal or external), but also the degree of control of the involved stakeholders over the policy evaluation (Halligan, 1995). Academics are divided on the importance of independent evaluations (Balthasar, 2009). Following the scientific nature of evaluation methodology, some highlight that external evaluations are required in order to facilitate critical perspectives on policy programmes and to legitimise the findings of evaluation reports (Conley-Taylor, 2005). However, hiring academic researchers or external consultants do not necessarily guarantee independent or critical thinking about the broader role of government actors and IGOs in information campaigns (Geiger & Pécoud, 2010, p.11). Moreover, a strand of 'interactionist' literature based on Patton (1997) argues that evaluations are in fact better utilised when the evaluators cooperate closely with the evaluated. This is because inclusion and participation of

the implementers and donors helps evaluators providing the right information for potential users to reach better decisions on future programmes (Balthasar, 2009, p. 251).

Micro-institutional factors

The micro-level concerns the individual policy interests and goals of each stakeholder involved in this governance network. The general programme objectives of policies are typically the outcome of compromises between these stakeholders. The concept of 'discourse coalition' (Hajer, 1993) is useful in this regard, which refers to the fact that the relevant stakeholders can have alternating 'systems of values or beliefs', and therefore give their own interpretation to shared project objectives (Czaika & De Haas, 2016, p. 494). Especially in democratic states such as the Netherlands, governments have to balance popular concerns about perceived 'uncontrolled migration' with human rights or economic interests (p. 492). Information campaigns illustrate this issue well, as government actors in countries of destination are typically involved in information campaigns for their (potential) use in deterring irregular migration, whereas IGOs, NGOs and the countries of origin are involved for the protection of potential migrants (Pécoud, 2010). Furthermore, IOM and local NGOs may also be involved to secure funding for their organisation (Geiger, 2010). Pécoud (2010) argues that these actors find consensus on the widely-shared objective that everyone benefits from information provision related to the risks of irregular migration, particularly human trafficking as a severe human rights violation (p. 195). In other words, it is hard to argue that providing information is detrimental to potential migrants, especially if it prioritises the safety of the migrant (Oeppen, 2016; Schans & Optekamp, 2016).

For example, if the individual interests of the involved stakeholders are in line with establishing evidence-based policy programmes, this creates incentive to finance elaborate evaluations in the technical verification discourse. However, elaborate evaluations such as rigorous impact evaluations take time and are a costly investment, which may inhibit policymakers from investing in such a policy evaluation. Moreover, situational validation discourse, which pertains to the question whether a policy project has contributed to solving the issue, might be avoided in evaluation processes, especially in a highly politicised environment such as migration policy. Finally, designing a policy programme with elaborate evaluation components may imply that the political relevance of the programme has decreased once the project is implemented (Ardittis & Laczko, 2008). In other words, these political factors can significantly influence the presence of certain evaluative discourses, but may also determine why certain evaluative discourses are *not* a part of the (formal) evaluation process.

2.4 Expectations

Based on the theoretical observations highlighted above, which highlights both migration studies and public administration, I follow several expectations on the relationship between the institutional setting of the project evaluation and the employed evaluation discourses which will be empirically examined in this research:

1. Differences in the type of discourses employed for the project evaluation are explained by macro-institutional factors that constitute general formal and informal rules about the role of evaluation in the policy process

Given the fact that information campaigns are commissioned by government actors and implemented by IGOs, I expect that the funder of the policy intervention has a large influence on the characteristics of the evaluation of that policy intervention, because they are ultimately in charge of the financial resources of the policy project (Wollmann, 2017). Their organisational standards on evaluation processes, including formal and informal rules regarding evaluations, determine the extent to which certain evaluation components are included in the projects. For example, based on the fact that the Dutch government actors committed to enhancing the effectiveness of information campaigns after a critical report of the Research & Documentation Centre (WODC), I expect a focus on impact evaluations in technical verification discourse. Regarding second-order evaluation, I expect that ideological choice discourse is more relevant for campaigns funded with development or humanitarian budget lines, since these budget lines are also used to improve human rights (Nieuwenhuys & Pécoud, 2007).

I also expect that due to this macro-institutional environment, IOM tends to produce evaluations that can primarily be classified as technical verification, focused on the efficiency of project evaluations by measuring output indicators rather than the (long-term) outcome of the project activities (McNevin et al., 2016). I expect that situational validation, societal vindication and ideological choice discourse are less relevant in this regard, or only deployed if it can show a campaign's success.

2. Differences in the type of discourses employed for the project evaluation are explained by the type of networks and coordination procedures mobilised for the evaluation on the mesolevel

I expect that more *elaborate* project evaluations are used if the governance actor and IOM form networks with external actors specifically for the evaluation process (Koon et al., 2013). Based on the literature, it is not possible to indicate whether the involvement of external actors, such

as consultants or think tanks, leads to more use of a certain evaluation discourse, such as critical situational validation discourse, societal vindication and ideological choice (Pécoud, 2010). However, the expertise of these actors does facilitate the more elaborate use of certain discourses, such as more rigorous methods in the case of technical verification, or better interview techniques in case of situational validation.

Coordination procedures established between government actors involved are also relevant for the type of evaluation discourses employed. For example, co-funding mechanisms can make more rigorous evaluation methods possible for technical verification discourse (Van Selm, 2008). Another important coordination procedure to consider is the coordination between the two Dutch government actors. For example, the policy on enhancing the effectiveness of information campaigns may be more relevant to one government actor than the other.

Finally, the literature indicates that the quality of the relationship between the involved stakeholders determines the extent to which a critical perspective is possible in evaluation processes (Van Selm, 2008). This may translate, for example, into more critical situational validation discourse, as this concerns the question whether the information campaigns are useful for 'solving' irregular migration to the European Union.

3. Differences in the type of discourses employed for the policy evaluation are explained by diverging policy interests with regards to the policy project on the micro-level

Given that the literature has indicated that the (implicit) policy interest of government actors is to reduce the number of irregular migrants to the European Union, I expect that technical verification discourse and/or situational validation discourse is used to measure and/or argue whether the project activities are effective for this purpose (Pécoud, 2010). I also expect that cost-benefit analysis within technical verification is used to indicate that information campaigns are relatively cheap compared to other policy alternatives (Weiss & Tschirhart, 1994). However, given that a discourse coalition is formed between the different stakeholders, I also expect that societal vindication and ideological choice discourse on the protection of migrants for human traffickers are used for evaluation purposes, in order to find common ground with countries of origin, the IOM, and other implementing NGOs (Nieuwenhuys & Pécoud, 2007, p. 1690). These discourses also reflect the policy interests of IGOs and NGOs.

Chapter 3: Methodology

This chapter sets out the research design and methods used for this study. Firstly, I operationalise the theory highlighted in chapter two into indicators that can be used for empirical analysis. In section 3.2 and 3.3, I explain the research design used to answer the research question by elaborating on the selection of my case studies. Finally, in section 3.4, I explicate the data collection and analysis process of this research.

3.1 Operationalisation

The operationalisation of this research flows from the theoretical framework as outlined in chapter two. I operationalise the project evaluation process by using Fischer's prescribed 'basic questions' as indicators in order to identify the extent to which the four discourses are reflected in the evaluation of information campaigns (see Table 1). This means that if an answer to one or more of the 'basic questions' is discovered in the evaluation documents and/or interviews, the evaluation is relevant for that particular discourse.

Fischer argues that for a policy to be considered a normatively 'good' policy, it must satisfy all four discursive phases. Moreover, an evaluation 'can commence at any of the phases' and may contain elements of several discourses at the same time (1999, p. 19). Although each discursive framework has its own type of methods and internal logic, this means that for a sound analysis, all frameworks are applied to the same project evaluation. Secondly, it is the task of the policy analyst to discover how the discourses employed in official evaluation documents are justified, elaborated upon, negated, or criticised by the stakeholders involved in the policy project. The units for analysis are therefore not only project evaluation documents, but also interviews with the involved policymakers and IOM staff, as discussed below.

Table 1: Operationalisation of the concept project evaluation (Fischer, 1999)

Concept	Variables	Attributes	Indicators
Project evaluation 1) an analytical tool which investigates all information pertinent to the impact and/or performance of a policy programme and	Technical verification Does the project work?	Impact evaluations Cost-benefit analyses Risk-benefit analyses	 Does the programme fulfil its stated objectives? Does the empirical analysis uncover secondary or unanticipated effects that offset the programme objectives? Does the programme fulfil the objectives more efficiently than alternative means available?
2) a policy process,	Situational validation	Relevance evaluations	Is a programme's objective relevant to the problem situation?

demarcating a part in the policy cycle, which involves reporting this information back to the policy-making process	Does the project solve anything?	Sustainability evaluations	3)	Are there circumstances in the situation that require an exception to be made to the objectives? Are two or more criteria equally relevant to the problem situation?
(Wollmann, 2017)	Societal vindication Does the project	Goal identification strategies	1)	Does the policy goal have instrumental or contributive value for the society as a whole?
	contribute to society as a whole?	System-level impact evaluations	2)	Does the policy goal result in unanticipated problems with important societal consequences?
		System-level cost- benefit analyses	3)	Does a commitment to the policy goal lead to consequences that are judged to be equitably distributed?
	Ideological choice Is it ideologically important to conduct this project?	Identification of self- serving dogma's of ideology of the policy programme Application of	1)	Do the fundamental ideals (or ideological principles) that organise the accepted social order provide a consistent basis for a legitimate resolution of conflicting judgements?
		'ideologies' or 'social orders' to evaluate the policy programme other than utilitarian approaches	2)	If the social order is unable to resolve basic values conflicts, do other social orders equitably accommodate the relevant interest and needs that the conflicts reflect?
			3)	Do normative reflection and empirical evidence support the justification of alternative principles and values?

For the operationalisation of the concept *policy evaluation system* I use the following table, which is loosely based on Turnpenny et al. (2008), who conceptualised a multi-layered institutional framework in the context of policy evaluation. It is important to note that I use sensitising variables and indicators for this institutional assessment, which means that the indicators used in this table serve as examples and are subject to redefinition or change throughout the research process (Bryman, 2012, p. 388).

Table 2: operationalisation of the concept policy evaluation system

Concept	Variables	Attributes	Indicators
Project evaluation	Macro-institutional factors	Formally established laws, regulations, and policy	Formal laws on policy- and project evaluations
system	The broader institutional opportunities and	procedures on policy- and project evaluations with	2) Formal and informal
System of organisational norms and	constraints that constitute general formal and informal rules about the	regards to both the funding and implementing	regulations on policy- and project evaluations
conventions of	injormai ruies about the	organisation	

behaviour, the coordination structures and networks, and the habits and	role of evaluation in the policy process	Organisational culture of the funding and implementing organisation	3)	Formal and informal policy procedures on policy- and project evaluations
belief systems pertinent to the evaluation process (Turnpenny et al., 2008)	Meso-institutional factors The formed networks and the established coordination procedures between the involved stakeholders	The type of stakeholders involved in the evaluation process Coordination procedures established between the different stakeholders	1)	Participation of 'knowledge actors' such as think tanks, external consultants, independent academics in the governance network
		The quality of the relationship between the involved stakeholders	2)	Involvement of the involved stakeholders in 'communities of practice', expert panels, technical working groups
			3)	Existence of co-funding mechanisms
			4)	Communication patterns between the involved stakeholders
	Micro-institutional factors The policy or organisational interests of	Policy interests of the government actors and the implementing agencies	1)	Explicit policy goals of the involved stakeholders
	the involved stakeholders which reveal assumptions and belief systems about	Organisational interests of the government actors and the implementing agencies	2)	Implicit/explicit policy subgoals
	what the policy project should achieve	mprementing agencies	3)	Stated policy advantages and/or disadvantages of funding/implementing information campaigns

3.2 Research design

I use a comparative case study design, comparing the governance networks and evaluation processes of two information campaigns. Using this research design means that I follow the logic of comparison, which implies that social phenomena are better understood in relation to two or more meaningfully contrasting cases (Bryman, 2012, p. 73). In this research, I compare two governance networks that are more or less similar in their institutional setting, yet diverge on the dependent variable of policy evaluation. Using this research design therefore allows for a demarcated study on studying the specific reasons for these divergences (Gupta, 2012, p. 12).

The comparative case study research design is accompanied by a qualitative research strategy. Taking on an interpretivist position, I aim to understand the politics and implementation of

information campaigns by investigating how the involved participants interpret evaluation processes. Qualitative research lends itself best for this interpretivist position, because it is able to capture these interpretive processes in their specific context. Moreover, qualitative comparative research can contribute to the identification of the complex ways in which these contextual factors -in this case the institutional setting- shape the project evaluation process (Bryman, 2012, p. 380).

3.3 Case selection

The information campaigns under investigation are the *Migrants as Messengers* campaign as financed by the Dutch Ministry of Foreign Affairs, and the *Preventing Unsafe Migration from Albania Towards European Member States* as financed by the Dutch Repatriation & Departure Service. Both government actors have funded or are funding other information campaigns as well, but these specific information campaigns were chosen due to their relevance. For both government actors, this is the most important information campaign in terms of budget (see figure 1) after the letter to the House of Representatives was sent in 2017 in which the goal for effective information campaigns was highlighted. However, it is worth mentioning that the first phase of the *Preventing Unsafe Migration from Albania Towards European Union Member States* was already planned, and is in fact mentioned in the letter to the House of Representatives as well, whereas the *Migrants as Messengers* campaign did not take on its current form yet. Implementation for both campaigns, however, eventually started in 2017.

Apart from their relevance, the selection of these two campaigns is also based on their institutional similarity (Gupta, 2012). Although the Departure & Repatriation Service is part of a different ministry, the Ministry of Justice & Security, the specific policy on information campaigns as stated in the letter sent to the House of Representatives in 2017 is signed by both ministries, which politically binds them on this topic. Furthermore, an overarching policy programme exists which generally binds these two ministries on migration policy: the Integral Migration Agenda (*Integrale Migratie Agenda*). It should be mentioned, however, that the Integral Migration Agenda stems from March 2018, which means it was introduced after the start of the investigated information campaigns. However, it is indicative of the fact that the current government administration (Rutte III 2017-2021) aims for enhanced coordination among ministries with regards to migration policy. A second aspect of institutional similarity lies with the implementation of the information campaigns. Although the Dutch government

funds information campaigns through several executive parties¹, both campaigns are implemented by the International Organisation for Migration (IOM). Again, IOM campaigns were also chosen because of their relevance, as this agency is often responsible for information campaigns, both for the Netherlands and for other EU countries.

Yet, the evaluation for these projects are dissimilar. For the IOM campaign in Albania, an external consultant was hired to evaluate the project on relevance, effectiveness and sustainability based on in-depth qualitative interviews with the involved stakeholders, as well as pre- and post-questionnaires after campaign activities. The evaluation of Migrants as Messengers contained an impact evaluation, in which researchers from the Global Migration Data Analysis Centre (GMDAC) assessed the evaluations of former information campaigns (Tjaden et al., 2018), and used a randomised control trial in Senegal to evaluate the causal impacts of the campaign on migrants' risk perception and intention to emigrate (irregularly) to Europe (Dunsch et al., 2019). Comparing these two 'similar-but-dissimilar' evaluations allows for a delimited study on the institutional factors that determine policy evaluation processes.

It should be highlighted that institutional similarity in this research refers to organisational similarity and not to the broader contextual setting of the campaigns. The Albanian information campaigns should be seen in the context of EU-enlargement procedures. Since Albania has entered the process of becoming part of the European Union, Albanian citizens are able to travel to the European Union with visa-free access and are able to stay for 90 days in any 180-day period in the Schengen area. At the request of the Netherlands, the European Commission investigated the possibility to temporarily reintroduce visas for Albania due to rising irregular migration numbers and Albanian criminality on Dutch territory in 2019. The European Commission eventually rejected this so-called ʻvisa suspension mechanism' (Schengenvisainfo, 2019). Albania is also officially declared a 'safe country' by the Dutch Immigration Service, which means that Albanian citizens applying for asylum are generally rejected and go through an accelerated procedure. With the exception of Senegal, this is not the case for the West African countries in which the Migrants as Messengers campaign is implemented. Moreover, the irregular journey of citizens from these countries has gained much public attention over the fact that it is often paired with human trafficking and exploitation in the North-African transit countries or death at the Mediterranean Sea (Baldwin-Edwards & Lutterbeck, 2019). Although these differences have relevant explanatory value for the diverging

¹ Through NGOs and (social) enterprises, such as Caritas, Seefar, Internews, and the Danish Refugee Council (based on information provided by the Dutch Ministry of Foreign Affairs)

evaluation processes, the limited scope of this research does not allow for further analysis on the precise influence of these contextual factors.

Table 3: the *Migrants as Messengers* campaigns and the IOM information campaigns in Albania in detail

	Time	Budget	Donor	Implementing	Countries of
	Frame			agency	implementation
Migrants as	Phase I:	Phase I:	Dutch	Phase I:	Phase I:
Messengers	01-12-2017	EUR 1.25	Ministry of	IOM Headquarters	Nigeria, Guinea, Senegal
	- 31-03-	million	Foreign	in Geneva	
	2019		Affairs		
	Phase II:	Phase II:		Phase II:	Phase II:
	01-04-2019	EUR 13.9		IOM Regional	Senegal, Gambia, Guinea,
	- 31-03-	million		Office West and	Liberia, Sierra Leone, Côte
	2022			Central Africa	d'Ivoire, Nigeria
				(Dakar)	
IOM	Phase I:	Phase I:	Repatriation	IOM Albania	Albania
information	14-07-2017	EUR 72.000	&		
campaign	07 -2018		Departure		
in Albania		Phase II:	Service		
	Phase II:	EUR 95.000	(DT&V)		
	01-01-2020				
	- 31-12-				
	2020				

3.4 Data collection and analysis

Data collection

For this comparative research I use two methods, creating a triangulation of sources (Bryman, 2012, p. 635). I combine a key document analysis of written evaluation and policy documents with several semi-structured interviews in order to in-depth contextualise these documents. Data collection took place from January 2020 to May 2020. Evaluation documents of both the *Migrants as Messengers* campaign and the IOM information campaign in Albania were analysed, as well as several policy documents, in order to establish the multiple policy goals of information campaigns. In appendix I, a list of documents used for this research is attached.

Interviews were conducted with key policymakers of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and the Repatriation & Departure Service, who are directly involved in the information campaigns. I also conducted interviews with a researcher at GMDAC who works closely with the Ministry of Foreign Affairs on the *Migrants as Messengers* campaign, as well as a representative from IOM Albania who works closely with the Repatriation & Departure Service. I perceived these interviews to be necessary in order to grasp how the policy evaluation process is perceived from the perspective of different stakeholders. In order to understand the establishment of the Dutch policy on information campaigns, I also conducted interviews with a researcher who was involved in the report of the Research & Documentation Centre (WODC), as well as a policymaker involved in the letter that was subsequently written to the House of Representatives. These interviews were conducted in order to understand the influence of WODC research in evaluation processes.

I sent preparatory questions to all respondents in advance, but followed a semi-structured technique during the interviews. All respondents were informed in advance about their rights as respondents for Erasmus University research and gave formal permission for these interviews on a consent form which explicitly states how their information is used in this research. Data was collected with a voice recorder and subsequently transcribed. Transcription documents were sent to all respondents so that they were able to comment on certain sections.

Table 4: list of respondents

Respondent number	Organisation	Position
R01	Ministry of Foreign Affairs (BZ): Directorate of	
	Stability & Humanitarian Aid (DSH)	
R02	IOM's Global Migration Data Analysis Centre	Researcher
	(GMDAC)	
R03	Repatriation & Departure Service (DT&V)	Policymaker
R04	IOM Albania	Project coordinator
R05	Research & Documentation Centre (WODC)	Researcher
R06	Ministry of Justice & Security: Directorate of	Former policymaker
	Migration Policy (DMB)	

Data analysis

Layder's adaptive theory (AT) approach (1998) is used for analysing the data. This means that I build on the principles of grounded theory (Strauss & Corbin, 1990), but I simultaneously use prior theory to provide order and patterns to the research data (Youssef, 2019). In this way, the

AT approach allows for an iterative process, in which inductive data collection is followed by a phase of theoretical reflection and deductive theory- and expectation testing, resulting in a constant weaving back and forth between data and theory (Bryman, 2012, p. 31). Practically, this means that I coded and analysed the empirical data with ATLAS.ti 8, following the guidelines of Strauss and Corbin (1990) of open coding, axial coding and selective coding. The first phase of open coding consisted of labelling all documents and interviews, resulting in an extensive list of codes. Secondly, I categorised and merged the coded fragments in code groups, simultaneously applying Fischer's preliminary concepts deductively (1999) as highlighted in the operationalisation table above to answer research sub-question one. For example, labelled fragments of documents and interviews were merged in the category of 'MaM societal vindication', referring to Migrants as Messengers. In order to answer research question two, I categorised the open codes in subcategories and subsequently into core categories of micro-, meso-, and macro-level. For example, several open codes were categorised into 'ALB policy goals' and subsequently into 'ALB MACRO-INSTITUTIONAL SETTING'. Finally, in the phase of selective coding, I re-read the documents for a final search of data related to the (sub) code groups developed during the processes of open and axial coding.

Chapter 4: The Migrants as Messengers campaigns

In this chapter, I present the empirical findings of the project evaluation of the *Migrants as Messengers* campaign as funded by the Dutch Ministry of Foreign Affairs. After introducing the project and its evaluation in 4.1, I analyse the evaluation process in 4.2, determining how Fischer's (1999) discursive frameworks are applicable to this project evaluation. In section 4.3, I elaborate on the institutional factors of the *Migrants as Messengers* campaigns which are relevant in explaining these evaluative discourses.

4.1 Introduction to the project

Migrants as Messengers is a 'peer-to-peer awareness raising campaign' targeted at potential irregular migrants from West Africa. The campaign is based on recent scientific insights from psychology, suggesting that 'presenting the facts' is not enough to change perception and behaviour (Dunsch et al., 2019, p. 10). Instead, Migrants as Messengers relies on return migrants, who are trained as 'volunteer field officers' (VFOs) to conduct video interviews with other return migrants on their experiences with irregular migration (p.12). These video interviews are compiled and edited in a documentary film and shown to potential migrants during town hall events. After the documentary, a discussion follows that is led by two or three VFOs (p. 12). Apart from town-hall events, the campaign also makes use of social media and radio shows. By watching personal (and often emotional) testimonies from return migrants, the potential migrant identifies with the video testimonies and witnesses how abstract risks of irregular migration become more tangible (p. 10). The assumption is that through this causal mechanism, potential migrants are more likely to change their perception on the risks involved with irregular migration, and are less likely to report intention to migrate irregularly (p. 10).

In order to test these causal assumptions, IOM's Global Migration Data Analysis Centre (GMDAC) conducted an experimental impact evaluation in Dakar, Senegal. Respondents in the sample group, who were selected based on criteria such as age, intention to migrate, willingness to attend the screening, and residence in one of the hand-picked neighbourhoods, were randomly invited to either the documentary film as described above, or a placebo film (p. 19). Respondents filled out a survey or were interviewed by research staff at the moment of invitation, immediately after the screening, and in two end line surveys up to five months after the townhall events took place (p. 22). The impact evaluation showed that the treatment groups reported higher subjective information levels and risk perception on issues related to irregular migration, as well as lower intention to migrate irregularly than the control groups. Factual knowledge on issues related to irregular migration, such as the costs of the journey, did not

increase, which was not surprising for the IOM researchers as the events were focused on 'emotional identification with the personal experience of returnees' (p. 37). The impact evaluation also showed limited effects on perceptions of economic opportunities in Senegal (p. 56), as well as small effects on the perception on returnees (p. 60). The report of the impact evaluation, including a technical annex for academics, is public and can be downloaded from the website of the IOM (IOM, 2019).

This impact evaluation is considered a pilot study by the IOM researchers (R02). In the second phase of the campaign, which is expanded to seven West African countries, four follow-up randomised controlled trials are conducted in four different countries: Nigeria, Guinea, Gambia and Senegal. These four countries were selected based on a mix of irregular migration flows to Europe, feasibility in terms of access to social media platforms, and academic interests, such as the presence of former research or projects which can be built upon. These follow-up RCTs seek to examine differences between population groups (gender, rural-urban), differences between online and offline communication, the role of the family and social networks in migration decisions, as well as the direct impact on migration behaviour (R02).

4.2 Project evaluation analysis

Technical verification

By conducting this impact evaluation, this evaluation seeks to answer the question whether the programme has fulfilled its stated project objectives of increasing potential migrants' risk perception, as well as decreasing the likeliness to report intention to migrate irregularly (p. 10). Besides that, it also sought to increase information levels about migration, increase the perception of economic opportunities in Senegal, and increase the perception on return migrants, who often face stigma once they return to their country of origin. Although these objectives do not seek to alter behaviour, it should be mentioned that self-reported *intention* to migrate is considered a proxy variable for future migration trends. In fact, IOM researchers affiliated with the *Migrants as Messengers* campaign examined this positive correlation between migration intention and actual migration flows, confirming the 'usefulness of emigration intentions in contexts where migration flow data are not available' (Tjaden et al., 2019, p. 47). However, the direct link between information campaigns and actual migration behaviour is not (yet) confirmed. In other words, technical verification discourse is used to a high extent in this evaluation document.

The Ministry of Foreign Affairs regards the *Migrants as Messengers* campaign as an experiment for raising the effectiveness of information campaigns. This raises the question *when* information campaigns are considered effective. There is no clear threshold in this regard, but the Ministry of Foreign Affairs considered the outcomes of the impact evaluation, which showed that the treatment group in Dakar was 20 per cent less likely to report intention to migrate irregularly within the next two years for example, successful enough. In this regard, the Ministry does not hold the expectation that information campaigns can be designed to prevent all irregular migration, as there are many potential migrants that are determined to go and cannot be influenced by the campaign activities. Moreover, if the campaigns can prevent irregular migration to a certain extent, but overall, there are other factors that cause an increase in irregular migration numbers, the campaigns are still regarded as successful (R01).

One of the policymakers involved in writing the Letter to the House of Representatives in 2017 on information campaigns mentioned in the context of the *Migrants as Messengers* campaign that a longitudinal design over multiple years would probably be more useful for measuring the effectiveness of the campaign:

What you really want is some sort of long-term research, and that does not exist at all. So that you follow people over multiple years. That does not exist. Which is really hard, but then you see what such a campaign really does (R06).

It should be highlighted in this regard that in the second phase of *Migrants as Messengers*, the respondents of the first phase will be interviewed again to measure the long-term effects of the campaign activities.

Although the impact evaluation did not measure the efficiency of the programme, Dutch policymakers did by making a rough cost-benefit analysis for information campaigns. With regards to migration management, information campaigns are of added value not only because they protect potential migrants from the risks involved in irregular migration, but also to prevent migrants from spending money on a futile journey to Europe. This would be a waste of financial resources, since many irregular migrants are rejected in a European asylum procedure and send back to their country of origin. However, pre-emptively changing the behaviour of irregular migrants with low prospects of obtaining asylum also means that money is saved for the Dutch asylum system, which is approximately &20.000 to &25.000 per asylum seeker. An information campaign, in this regard, is a relatively inexpensive tool to prevent 'unnecessary' costs made by both the migrant him/herself, as well as the Dutch Immigration and Naturalisation Service

(R01). In other words, if you are able to prevent a small number of potential migrants from entering the Dutch asylum procedure, the benefits easily outweigh the costs:

It is already possible to conduct an information campaign from €10.000 onwards. One asylum seeker is €20.000 per year or so [IK: for the asylum procedure]. So yes... with a little bit of money you can start a campaign. If you deter a few people and other people go to another country... That's the idea – a little bit of investment, maybe success (R06).

Situational validation

Situational validation concerns the question whether the project objectives has contributed to the identified problem situation (Fischer, 1999). For the *Migrants as Messengers* campaign, the identified problem situation is the rise of Sub-Saharan African irregular migration to the European Union, whereas citizens from these countries generally have low prospects of obtaining asylum (Dunsch et al., 2019, p. 5). One of the causes of irregular migration, as the project rationale mentions, is that the expectations that migrants have of 'the quality of life in Europe, the risks of the journey and their chances of staying in Europe, are often misguided' (p. 9). The report mentions several studies that show that West African migrants start their journeys with limited or biased information (p. 6). One of the last sections in the report mentions that the *main* reason for irregular migration is the lack of economic opportunities and population growth (p. 56).

As mentioned, the report empirically examined whether the programme activities contributed to alleviating these identified causes of irregular migration. The impact evaluation measured knowledge levels of potential migrants about the journey and potential earnings in countries of destination, showing for example that 73% of respondents are not familiar with asylum procedures (p. 41). Moreover, the impact evaluation showed that one in three potential migrants in the study reported that they do not feel 'well-informed' about the risks and opportunities associated with migration, and that the campaign activities increased the subjective information level of potential migrants by 16 to 19 percent relative to the control group (p. 31). In this way, the report shows that project is relevant to the identified causes of the problem situation.

However, examining situational validation for this project necessitates a broader empirical inquiry on whether the project objectives of changing risk perception and decreasing migration intention are relevant to the *overall* problem situation. Firstly, this would entail that the evaluators empirically measure if the countries of implementation, Nigeria, Guinea, Senegal, are relevant settings for this identified problem. Although irregular migration numbers are the

main criteria when choosing countries for the *Migrants as Messengers* campaigns, other criteria, such as the general use of social media in that country are also important in choosing countries for implementation (R01; R02). It is therefore not unlikely that other countries were more relevant for the implementation of the project activities in terms of Sub-Saharan irregular migration flows to the EU. These evaluation components were not reflected in the document.

Secondly, situational validation 'probes the validity of the situational definitions and assumptions upon which the programme objectives have been constructed' (Fischer, 1999, p. 57). The report mentions the assumption that 'changes in knowledge and perception may affect overall intention to migrate irregularly', which in turn results in migration flows (Dunsch et al., 2019, p. 50). Interestingly, the report also mentions that the data showed that risk perceptions on the dangers related to irregular migration are generally high before leaving, and therefore 'might not be the main problem' (p. 45). Although there is a possibility that potential migrants do not apply this risk perception to their own situation, it therefore remains unclear whether risk perception levels are relevant for the purpose of decreasing irregular migration. The authors argue that it is possible that alternative factors, such as poverty and lack of economic opportunities, outweigh the high risks involved in the context of irregular migration (p. 46).

Furthermore, the report itself mentions that in some West African countries, a 'culture of migration' exists and that the choice of migration is a 'combination of limited employment opportunities, societal and family pressures and accepted social norms' (p. 6). This would entail that migration decisions are not individual decisions, but are structurally embedded in the family context, or even in the societal context (Carling & Hernández-Carretero, 2012; Mbaye, 2014). These situational factors could have influenced the results of the programme objectives, which are primarily focused on individual changes in risk perception and migration intention as catalysers for irregular migration behaviour. Although this impact evaluation did ask about parental influence (Dunsch et al., 2019, p. 32), there might be other contextual factors that raise questions on the relevance of the programme objectives for this problem situation. This type of research, which aims to identify the 'experience-related criteria for the contextual and longitudinal measurement' of irregular migration causes, is not highly present in the evaluation document (Fischer, 1999, p. 58). In short, although the second phase of the campaign will include an evaluation with more longitudinal and contextual components, this evaluation document is mostly focused on technical verification rather than situational validation discourse.

Societal vindication

Societal vindication concerns the question if *Migrants as Messengers* is instrumentally or symbolically valuable to broader societal arrangements. It moves beyond the situational context in which the programme objectives of the *Migrants as Messengers* are applied, in order to assess whether the campaign has consequences for the larger social system as a whole (Fischer, 1999, p. 59). For example, the report of the Research & Documentation Centre (WODC) illuminated the general assumptions that policymakers and practitioners may hold while designing and implementing information campaigns.

The *Migrants as Messengers* campaign frequently refers to this WODC report and seeks to test some of the mentioned assumptions, such as the assumption that potential migrants lack information, as highlighted above. The RCT in Dakar, however, was conducted on the microlevel. As stated in the evaluation report, it was not the intention of the study to 'extrapolate the results to a larger population (external validity), as other sampling techniques (...) would have been necessary' (p. 18). In order to fulfil the next step in societal vindication, an 'empirical assessment of the desired impact on the larger social system' should be conducted, such as a systematic review of multiple impact evaluations in different contexts (p. 19). This may be possible once the impact evaluations of *Migrants as Messengers* Phase II are finished.

Alternatively, *Migrants as Messengers* can be vindicated on its contribution to society in other ways than the possible impact on decreasing irregular migration. In fact, *Migrants as Messengers* is also designed for the protection people of people on the move and to secure the human rights of migrants (Fischer, 1999, p. 55). By providing objective information and facilitating dialogue on this issue, this campaign seeks to ensure that if people decide to move irregularly, they are more aware of the dangers and are therefore less likely to end up in vulnerable situations. Regardless of its effectiveness on reducing irregular migration, this information campaign is useful for spreading that awareness in West African societies. These effects cannot easily be expressed in numbers, since it is hard to measure how the campaign might have influenced decisions during the irregular journey. In this light, the involved policymaker mentioned that conducting an information campaign is perhaps already meaningful if, as a result of this campaign, one person is prevented from dying on the way to Europe (R01). In other words, societal vindication discourse is used to demonstrate that the Ministry of Foreign Affairs considers the goal to protect migrants just as important as the prevention of irregular migration.

Ideological choice

In the fourth discursive framework by Fischer, *Migrants as Messengers* is not evaluated on its instrumental or symbolic contribution to the existing social system, but on its contribution to its ideological foundations (1999). In more simplistic terms, this pertains to the question whether the campaign activities are evaluated as 'the right thing to do' in light of migration management and/or human rights-based discourse. In this context, the involved policymaker mentioned that ideally, potential migrants do not make use of irregular pathways, because it prevents them from ending up in precarious situations, and this also benefits the countries of origin, transit and destination (R01). However, it is unsure whether the information campaigns make a substantial contribution in this regard, considering the uncertainty of the impact that they have on irregular migration behaviour. In other words, information campaigns are not considered to be particularly valuable for the ideological basis of migration management.

However, as mentioned in the context of societal vindication, *Migrants as Messengers* is also valuable for the protection of migrants (during their irregular journey), regardless of its possible translation to less irregular migration behaviour. The ideological importance of these actions was most clearly expressed in the context of cooperation with the authorities of countries of origin. Although it was acknowledged that cooperation on issues of human trafficking is easier than the prevention of irregular migration to the European Union, the information campaigns are not considered an instrumental tool to get the authorities aboard. The information campaign is also conducted because the Ministry is involved with Official Development Assistance (ODA) and out of care for the protection of migrants (R01).

Conclusion

In short, the *Migrants as Messengers* campaign has primarily been evaluated on the level of technical verification, in order to measure the impact of the project activities on changes in risk perception and migration intention among potential migrants in Dakar, Senegal. However, whether the information campaign is effective for decreasing Sub-Saharan irregular migration flows to the European Union, remains unclear. Discussions on the level of societal vindication show that this is not necessarily considered problematic by the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, as information campaigns also serve the purpose of protecting migrants from human trafficking. Effectiveness in this regard is not easily expressed in numbers. Discussions on the level of ideological choice show that the 'triple' win narrative is used to evaluate that information campaigns do not highly contribute to the ideological basis of migration management (De Jong & Dannecker, 2017). Yet, the protection of migrants is considered just as ideologically relevant as preventing irregular migration.

4.3 Institutional setting of the project evaluation

Macro-institutional factors

The macro-institutional setting is focused on institutional matters beyond the specific context of the Migrants as Messengers campaign, which concerns both the organisational culture of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, as well as the International Organisation for Migration. The macroinstitutional environment provides for multiple explanations why technical verification discourse is predominant in the Migrants as Messengers campaign. With regards to IOM, the establishment of IOM's Global Migration Data Analysis Centre (GMDAC) is an important macro-institutional development. The centre was established in 2015 at the invitation of the German government in order to 'respond to calls for better international migration data and analysis'. One of its tasks is to conduct impact evaluations, specifically aimed at measuring the effects of IOM's activities on target groups. Usually, the Office of the Inspector General (OIG) in Geneva covers audits, monitoring and evaluation, and coordinates monitoring and evaluation offices around the world. As these offices usually do 'conventional donor reporting' that monitor how the project was put in place, 'a different type of exercise' such as impact evaluations have not been a systematic routine within IOM (R02). In fact, the authors of the Migrants as Messengers report mention that the broader aim of this impact evaluation is to contribute to 'a paradigm shift in programme evaluation in migration, add to the global evidence base and provide an example of mutual learning for all stakeholders in migration' (p. 8).

As mentioned in chapter two, where information campaigns are managed highly differs per government actor (R06; see also Pécoud, 2010). In the Netherlands, information campaigns are managed by policymakers working for two departments within the Ministry of Foreign Affairs: the Directorate of Stability & Humanitarian Aid (DSH), as well as the Migration Policy Office (BMB) to coordinate policy within the European Union (R01; R06). The fact that information campaigns are managed from the Department of Stability & Humanitarian Aid implies that information campaigns are paid with funds that are officially designated for the promotion of economic development and welfare of developing countries (Official Development Assistance, so-called 'ODA' means). This gives the campaign a humanitarian purpose besides its migration management purpose, which explains the societal vindication argument that information campaigns are valuable, because they can potentially help (irregular) migrants with safer migration decisions.

Since the effectiveness of development aid has often been (politically) contested, the Ministry puts a lot of emphasis on the results of their development policy programmes. This is clearly

illustrated by the fact that the Directorate uses results frameworks for their migration and development policy programme, which explicates the envisioned impacts, long-term outcomes, medium-term outcomes and outputs, and the indicators that show how these aspects can be measured. Furthermore, the Directorate of International Research and Policy Evaluation (IOB) is actively involved in their policy programmes, an independent evaluation service which conducts evaluation research for past foreign policy, and works as as advisor for current and future foreign policy (R01). Finally, this Directorate collaborates frequently with other IGOs, such as the World Bank and the United Nations World Food Programme (WFP), that more regularly conduct RCTs to ensure 'evidence-based programming' (R02).

Finally, a relevant macro-institutional factor on part of the funder organisation are the policy practices concerning research conducted by the Research & Documentation Centre (WODC). The involvement of the WODC was rather coincidental, as this research centre responds to calls from the Ministry of Justice & Security, and not from the Ministry of Foreign Affairs (R05). At the time, the Directorate of Migration Policy of this Ministry was also interested in information campaigns for its possible usefulness for curbing irregular migration, which is why it submitted a research proposal to this centre. When WODC researches are published, it is common practice that this is communicated to the House of Representatives with a formal policy response from the involved ministries (R05; R06). The publication did not only require coordination between the two ministries, but also led the Ministry of Foreign Affairs to commit to the policy goal of enhancing effectiveness of information campaigns. This explains the focus on rigorous evaluation methods and, in turn, the use of technical verification discourse in the evaluation document.

Meso-institutional factors

The meso-institutional setting of this project shows intensive collaboration among governmental actors in EU-context, as well as between the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and IOM. The idea of *Migrants as Messengers*, working with returnee migrants instead of top-down information provision, was the result of conversations between the Media & Communication Division (MCD) of the IOM and the Dutch Ministry of Foreign Affairs. The Ministry had taken note of the findings of the WODC report on information campaigns, co-wrote its reaction to this report in the letter to the House of Representatives, and subsequently approached IOM with the question on how to design an information campaign which takes into account the pitfalls of previous information campaigns as described in the WODC report. As mentioned in chapter two, one of the findings of this report was that information provided by peers or other networks

is generally considered more reliable than information directly from European governments (Schans & Optekamp, 2016, p. 18). Consequently, IOM developed the idea of mobilising return migrants for an information campaign (R01).

Policymakers in several European member states were already communicating on issues regarding information campaigns, providing financial opportunities for an impact evaluation. Dutch policymakers organised a workshop with German and Italian policymakers on the effectiveness of information campaigns, where they were notified on the fact that in light of the *Central Mediterranean Route* programme funded by the Department for International Development (DFID), another information campaign was evaluated with rigorous evaluation methods by GMDAC. This EU-collaboration can be explained by the fact that a common European information strategy is more effective than 'European countries competing against each other in convincing migrants not to come their specific country' (Schans & Optekamp, 2016, p. 24). Upon Dutch initiative, a regular European Migration Network (EMN) working group on information campaigns has since been launched with the aim of sharing practices on information campaigns and ensure coordination among the member states (R01).

The original project proposal of *Migrants as Messengers* did not envision an impact evaluation component, but a 'light touch' monitoring component (R02). As the *Central Mediterranean Route* programme was 'scoped to insert project components in there that were not initially planned' (R02), and because there were several funds left from the *Migrants as Messengers* project, GMDAC was able to conduct an impact evaluation relatively late in the project phase. Hence, the impact evaluation of the first phase is a result of a co-funding mechanism: both DFID and the Ministry of Foreign Affairs were involved as funders. Although respondents highlighted that these collaborations were rather coincidental, or 'just grow that way', these collaborations clearly show how networks on the meso-institutional level can be mobilised to develop broader evaluation components in information campaigns (R01; R02). In other words, networks on EU-level specifically concerning the effectiveness of information campaigns explain the high level of technical verification in the *Migrants as Messengers* evaluation.

Since the impact evaluation was funded by DFID, communication and feedback on matters related to the impact evaluation took predominantly place with the British funders (R02). In the second phase of the programme, the Ministry is the only funder of the impact evaluation process. The researchers conducting the multiple RCTs for these campaigns have general meetings with the Ministry on the planning of these RCTs. Regarding these meetings, the researcher at GMDAC is positively surprised about the content of these conversations:

[...] they are very flexible. I'm surprised, not a lot of donors are like this, but they really care about the results and less.. the looks. That's very rare. DFID is similar in that regard. They really care about the evidence that comes out of it, that it is of high quality and reliable, and not so much the aesthetics of it, the looks of it. You know what I mean? The politics of it. That is certainly an important dimension, but I do have a feeling that there is sincere interest in running good quality studies, so the discussions we are having with the Dutch are very much on that. How can we do the best that is possible? It's not so much... It's different in other donor-related conversations (R02)

The Ministry deems it important to create a 'climate of trust' with the implementing organisations, in which the failures of the programme can easily be discussed. In this regard, it was mentioned that implementing organisations have a tendency to report more positively, or leave certain matters out of an evaluation report, in order to secure future funding. This tendency is not deemed effective by the Ministry, which seeks to achieve better results by facilitating learning processes (R01).

Policymakers at the Dutch Ministry of Foreign Affairs commented elaborately on the draft reports of the impact evaluation, in which the Directorate of International Research and Policy Evaluation (IOB) of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs was closely involved as well (R01). This feedback was regarded as helpful for GMDAC to 'beef up some sections of the report' and 'make certain things clearer' (R02). For example, the researchers added a section on the limitations of the study, such as social desirability bias, based on the feedback of the Ministry (Dunsch et al., 2019, p. 27). This shows that intensive communication between the funder, implementing agency and the evaluators has primarily resulted in more critical perspectives within technical verification discourse.

For the second phase of the *Migrants as Messengers* campaign, an Advisory Board is installed to safeguard the independency of the research (R01). The Advisory Board consists of experts and academics from universities and other institutions, such as the World Bank, and functions as a sounding board for technical advice. When the IOM researchers decide on a new design for the studies, the Advisory Board also has to endorse these new steps (R02). IOM proposed this unique setting to the Ministry of Foreign Affairs to ensure independency of the evaluation. This independent Advisory Board was endorsed by the Ministry because, as the involved policymaker explained, it is in the interest of the Ministry to credibly convene the message that 'what your doing actually works'. Other measures, such as that the staff of the project does not

have control over the budget and staff of the GMDAC researchers, were installed as well (R01). The installment of an Advisory Board with technical experts provides for a clear explanation for the high use of technical verification in the evaluation.

The respondents argued that conducting internal evaluations has clear advantages. For example, the IOM researcher mentioned that to be part of the same organisation is helpful, because he has direct access to everyone involved in the project implementation. Moreover, communication and coordination between the implementers and evaluators facilitates 'feedback loops' between the two parties: the evaluators are more aware of the reality on the ground, whereas the implementers are more aware of 'how they should be doing certain things, so that we can use them for the studies' (R02).

Micro-institutional factors

The information campaigns are part of the policy goals of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs to 'protect people on the move', especially from human trafficking, and to 'decrease irregular migration'. Information campaigns are meant to contribute to these long-term outcomes by increasing awareness among potential migrants and their communities of the risk of irregular migration, their rights, and possible legal alternatives, as well as by 'changing their behaviour away' from irregular migration. This is measured by the number of potential migrants who demonstrate knowledge of safe migration procedures, risks of irregular migration and the number who report either abandoning, delaying or reconsidering their plan to migrate irregularly. This shows clearly how information campaigns serve a humanitarian aim of protecting people from the risks of irregular migration, while they are simultaneously deployed for purposes of managing irregular migration (Nieuwenhuys & Pécoud, 2007).

Conclusion

In short, the focus on evidence-based programming and technical verification discourse is explained by the fact that *Migrants as Messengers* is funded with officially designated development aid and financially managed by the Department of Stability & Humanitarian Aid. Furthermore, institutional change within IOM made internal impact evaluations possible with the establishment of GMDAC in 2015. Next to these macro-institutional factors, institutional factors on the meso-level explain that *Migrants as Messengers* is elaborately technically verified on its impact, because a network of European government actors on this topic provided opportunities for a co-funding mechanism. Moreover, the relationship between the funding and implementing organisation is focused on improving programmes through policy learning.

Finally, on the micro-level, it can be witnessed that the policy goals and interests of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs are focused both on the protection of migrants and decreasing irregular migration. This explains why policymakers and researchers seek to technically verify whether information campaigns can be used as a means to control migration, but simultaneously keep implementing these campaigns with the uncertainty that information campaigns are effective for this purpose.

Chapter 5: The IOM information campaigns in Albania

In this chapter, I present the empirical findings of the *Preventing Unsafe Migration from Albania Towards EU Member States* information campaigns, as funded by the Dutch Repatriation & Departure Service. In section 5.2, I elaborate on the evaluation process, again examining how Fischer's (1999) discursive frameworks are applicable to this project evaluation. In section 5.3, I elaborate on the institutional factors that explain these evaluation patterns.

5.1 Introduction to the project

The IOM information campaigns in Albania are of a considerable different nature than the *Migrants as Messengers* campaigns. Firstly, the information campaigns in Albania are implemented in shorter time periods. Whereas the first phase of the *Migrants as Messengers* campaign was implemented over a period of almost 1,5 years, the actual implementation phase of the first information campaign was several months, from October 2017 to March 2018. Secondly, this project consisted of a wide variety of activities aimed at several target groups. In terms of outreach activities, IOM Albania created leaflets that were spread among local communities, and held 'bilateral dialogue' sessions at high schools to raise awareness on irregular migration among students and their teachers. Furthermore, a consultant was hired to monitor Albanian media and to conduct a workshop for journalists on how to portray irregular migration in media outlets. Finally, in order to create sustainability for the project activities, IOM Albania conducted workshops with civil society organisations, such as local antitrafficking committees, as well as (local) government units (R04). A follow-up project of one year is confirmed and will most likely start in the summer of 2020 (R03).

Due to the high variety of implemented activities, the evaluation of this project touches upon more aspects than the impact of the outreach activities alone. An external consultant conducted the evaluation of the project after the implementation of this programme. She determined the extent to which the objectives of the campaigns have been met, assessed the likelihood of sustainability of the project, identified IOM's institutional strengths and weaknesses when implementing the campaign, as well as needs for further information- and awareness raising activities on the topic. The evaluation consisted of several methods, but the consultant primarily conducted qualitative interviews with a large variety of involved stakeholders. This was accompanied with a quantitative survey research among participants of the workshop activities on the high schools.

5.2 Project evaluation analysis

Technical verification

The project objectives were threefold: to contribute to increased awareness and understanding on the fact that asylum applications from Albanian citizens are rejected in EU countries, to increase awareness on the fact that irregular migration entails 'serious consequences', and to raise awareness and understanding on the practical implications of visa-free regime rules. The latter refers to the fact that Albanians are allowed to stay and move freely for a maximum of 90 days within any 180-day period in the Schengen area without a visa requirement. Breaking these visa regime rules usually means that Albanians reside in the Schengen area for a longer time period.

One of the aims of this evaluation was to measure the extent to which these project objectives have been met, by assessing the short-term effectiveness of the campaign activities. Based on feedback collected through questionnaires before and right after the information sessions in the high schools, as well as through the focus groups, in-depth interviews and direct observations, the consultant concluded that the misperceptions about asylum and visa liberalisation rules 'have been very well absorbed by the targeted population'. The consultant elaborated on this by arguing that 'it seems' that if someone is asking for international protection based on unfounded reasons, or is breaking the visa free regime rules, s/he is doing it deliberately, and not as a consequence of a lack of information. With regards to raising awareness on the consequences of irregular migration, the consultant found that the target groups already knew about the general risks before the informative sessions of the campaign. Even though the campaign itself was able to raise awareness among the majority of the targeted groups who participated in the surveys, the consultant argued that the economic reasons for migration prevail over the fear of the possible dangers of irregular migration. She concludes that information campaigns should therefore be accompanied with increased economic opportunities in Albania itself, as well as increased ways to migrate regularly, in order to effectively prevent irregular migration. Moreover, information campaigns should be more intensive and conducted over the longer term.

From the perspective of technical verification, the research methods employed for measuring the effectiveness of these campaign activities can be highly criticised. Although the questionnaires were dispersed before and after the informative sessions among a relatively large sample size, the consultant did not make use of control-group designs and randomised treatment allocations (Tjaden et al., 2018). Furthermore, there were no specific questions on asylum in

the questionnaires, which means that the conclusion that awareness on asylum topics was increased by the campaign activities is solely based on qualitative data from the focus groups and in-depth interviews. As a result, the evaluation does not measure whether the rise in awareness on irregular migration may be attributable to other factors, such as the return of rejected asylum seekers from the EU to Albania. Based on these evaluation techniques, it therefore remains uncertain how and to what extent the project activities have contributed to reaching the stated project objectives.

The consultant shortly touched upon issues related to efficiency, when discussing the strengths and weaknesses of IOM Albania in implementing this campaign. She established that IOM Albania was 'able to organise and manage the project efficiently with limited staff and time, covering all twelve regions of Albania' (p. 23). Regarding cost-benefit analysis, the Dutch policymaker involved in this information campaign is aware of the assessment in which the costs of information campaigns are compared to the costs of the asylum procedure. Yet, she deemed the absolute costs of information campaigns still high, considering that there is no guarantee that information campaigns will actually bring down the number of asylum applications:

If you assume the costs of one asylum seeker per year for the entire [IK: asylum] system, you assume €20.000. In that sense, an amount of €100.000 is not that high, perhaps. But if you look at it differently, purely €100.000, or even more in broader EU campaigns from the AMIF fund, it is a lot of money. Because you put it in something of which you have no guarantee that it will do anything (...). It does not create any jobs over there. Such a campaign should ultimately benefit the fact that we are less troubled by asylum applications with low prospects (R03)

This calculation takes into the account the risks of implementing an information campaign, as there is a chance that they are not helpful in bringing down the number of asylum applications from Albania.

Situational validation

In contrast to technical verification, the official evaluation document elaborately makes use of situational validation discourse. The identified problem situation of this campaign was the rise of Albanian asylum seekers to the European Union, although Albania has been qualified as 'safe country' by the Netherlands. During the 'migration crisis' of 2015, many Albanians travelled to the Netherlands to 'misuse' the Dutch asylum procedure for financial or medical

support, or used the Dutch (and Belgian) sea harbours to travel to the United Kingdom (R03; R06). In an interview with a Dutch news magazine, the former director of the Repatriation & Departure Service mentioned that the cause of this problem lies with wrong information among the Albanian population:

They are wrongly informed. They still think they have a small chance of obtaining asylum and hear stories that they can get a house and subsistence (Joosten, 2016).

Based on the qualitative interviews, the consultant elaborated on these causes by arguing in the evaluation document that Albania has a 'collective inclination towards lack of hope in opportunities offered within the country' and a 'perceived lack of trust that Albania will be part of the European Union soon'. Most emigrating Albanians do not necessarily migrate for 'real' economic aims, but rather for a more secure life. Relatives and friends residing in the European Union serve as a 'pull factor' as they can provide for a support network for newcomers.

To a large extent, the evaluation sought to determine whether the programme's objectives, targeted at 'raising awareness' on a number of issues, were relevant for this problem situation. This is primarily reflected by the fact that the consultant employed 'contextual and culturally appropriate measures' to question whether needs for information and awareness raising activities persist after this campaign. According to the evaluator, the in-depth interviews with the institutional stakeholders and teachers showed that 'a deeply rooted perception coming from relatives abroad that EU countries provide assistance for irregular immigrants in difficult economic situations' indeed existed among the Albanian population. However, these perceptions have recently changed, and the number of Albanian asylum seekers in the European Union slightly decreased in the first quarter of 2018 compared to the last quarter of 2017. However, the evaluator argues that these changes in both perception and behaviour are not only the result of the information campaigns, but are also due to the fact that people have seen acquaintances or relatives returning from the European Union after a rejected asylum application, or have been notified of stricter enforcement by the Albanian police. The consultant therefore concludes that, although there is a constant need to warn people on irregular migration risks, they are less relevant for the purpose of conveying information on asylum matters than in 2015.

Moreover, the consultant reports on multiple circumstances that may require additions, instead of exceptions, to be made to the awareness-raising objectives (Fischer, 1999). The consultant argued that these should be taken into consideration when assessing the effectiveness of the

information campaign. As mentioned, the evaluation argued that the economic reasons for migration prevail over the fear of the possible dangers of irregular migration. According to the consultant, 'Albania remains affected by high unemployment rates and poverty conditions, a fragile social welfare state, with remote communities isolated from access to available services', which makes it difficult to pass the message against irregular migration. The interviewed stakeholders mentioned that information campaigns should therefore not only be focused on the risks of irregular migration, but need to try to highlight positive alternatives which aims at building the future in the country. If information campaigns inform the Albanian population on available opportunities in the country, the tendency to search for economic alternatives abroad should decrease. The consultant found that this 'social dimension' was adequately taken into consideration by IOM staff, as they balance prohibitive and alarming messages with more positive messages of alternatives to irregular migration.

Apart from drawing attention to the fact that information campaigns should be accompanied with existing opportunities in the country, the report also recommends that information campaigns in Albania should be accompanied with options to migrate regularly. This issue illuminates conflicting objectives between the stakeholders involved in the Albanian information campaigns. The evaluation followed the general standpoint of IOM that, in order to prevent irregular migration, new programmes of regular migration should be created, including programmes for young people that want to study abroad. In this way, it is easier to present target groups with regular migration alternatives in information campaigns. On this recommendation, which is clearly aimed at Dutch policy actors, the policymaker involved mentioned that this is not realistic at the moment:

It sounds a bit rough, because we do take into account the recommendations, but they have to be workable for us, realistic. We can hardly support a recommendation such as that there should be more options for legal pathways, because it does not correspond to the reality and the [IK: Dutch] policy pursued. There are hardly any legal pathways and these are reserved for a select group (RO3).

Reflecting on this issue, she mentions that the Repatriation & Departure Service, which ultimately aims to send back migrants who have no legal claim to reside in the Netherlands, could also benefit from foreign worker quotas in order to facilitate cooperation on return migration with certain countries. Yet, even if that would be possible in a new government coalition agreement, foreign worker quotas still do not represent an alternative for all Albanians that would like to migrate to the European Union. The focus should remain on creating

perspective and opportunities in Albania itself, in order to prevent Albania from 'deflating' and losing human capital (R03).

Societal vindication

The project evaluation document and the interviews with the involved stakeholders probed multiple implications on the level of societal vindication. Firstly, the campaign raised questions on the contributive value of information campaigns for Albanian society as a whole. According to the respondents, the information campaigns have both political and societal advantages. Politically speaking, Albania is risking its current right to visa free travel due to the rise of Albanian asylum requests in the European Union. The Albanian authorities therefore welcome the funding of information campaigns to 'reduce the pull factors' of the European Union. With regards to the follow-up campaign, the Dutch policymaker also explained that Albania is especially keen on its diplomatic relationship with the Netherlands, as the Netherlands requested a visa suspension mechanism for Albania at the European Commission to temporarily decrease irregular migration levels (R03). On societal level, the evaluation document, in line with IOM Albania's view, emphasised the fact that the information campaign does not only prevent Albanian citizens from migrating irregularly, but also functions as a means to inform people on existing job opportunities in the country of origin. Beyond its project objectives of raising awareness on irregular migration, the information campaign thus has a meaningful purpose for Albanian society (R04).

Secondly, from the Dutch perspective, the information campaign in Albania is considered by Dutch policymakers as a means to show the Albanian government that the Netherlands is willing to support the Albanian authorities in 'combatting illegal migration' (R03):

[IK: It is] valuable. In any case, it contributes to closer contacts and exchange of information. That is not the main purpose of an information campaign, but as a secondary goal it always has a positive effect on the relationship. The Netherlands will be put on the map, and our Embassy in Tirana can also convey that message. It is a bit of diplomacy; you can also put it that way (R03).

In other words, information campaigns are not only considered a tool for combatting irregular migration, but also as a tool to facilitate cooperation with the Albanian authorities.

Thirdly, a Dutch policymaker regarded this information campaign valuable for showing the Dutch audience that the authorities are actively undertaking steps to prevent irregular migration from Albania:

You could argue that (...) information campaigns are primarily conducted for the Dutch audience. To show that we really do something to stop this influx, with a campaign here and there (...) Ultimately, this [IK: information campaign] was physically conducted, all these schools and universities were visited in certain regions where many people would emigrate (...). But of course, you would also like to mention in the Dutch press, look, we have a Dutch campaign in Albania. So, you also want to emphasise that to the outside world (R06).

This is because, as the involved policymaker from the Repatriation & Departure Service mentions, there is general support among the Dutch population that Albanians should not make use of the asylum procedure, even among opposition parties. In this sense, information campaigns have the function of showing that the Dutch government is decisive by undertaking efforts to decrease irregular migration levels to the Netherlands. This should be seen within a larger set of policies aimed at citizens from 'safe countries', such as accelerated asylum procedures and simplified reception centres, which are implemented because 'even the Dutch Refugee Council' would agree with these measures (R03).

Ideological choice

Ideological choice refers to the broad question whether the involved stakeholders evaluate information campaigns contribute to their ideological principles. As highlighted above, the consultant conducted interviews with involved stakeholders, such as local anti-trafficking committees and staff from IOM Albania. The evaluation document showed that in terms of ideological principles, these actors took on a rights-based approach to migration:

Interviewees agree that migration is a human right: everyone has the right to move in search of a better life. In a global context of porous boundaries, it becomes even more easy to move. Therefore, the best choice to manage migration is to adequately channel irregular migration ways into regular programmes for migration. The latter also goes to the benefit of the EU Member States to balance requests for workforce.

Based on this, the consultant argued that information campaigns do not necessarily contribute to the underlying principle of freedom of movement, unless they are utilised for informing the Albanian population on their migration rights.

Conclusion

In short, the information campaigns in Albania are primarily evaluated with situational validation discourse. The consultant mainly aimed for understanding the wider societal context of Albanian irregular migration to the European Union and measured the extent to which information campaigns are relevant for this societal context. She mostly used qualitative techniques with relevant stakeholders to conclude that information campaigns are partially relevant for solving the issue of Albanian irregular migration to the European Union, but should be accompanied with more economic opportunities in Albania, as well as more legal pathways to the European Union. Discussions on the level of societal vindication, however, show that information campaigns are also deemed valuable for Albanian society and the Albanian-Dutch diplomatic relationship, which explains why a follow-up campaign is scheduled for 2020. Finally, the evaluation document includes an element of ideological choice, as it refers to the human right of freedom of movement.

5.3 Institutional setting of the project evaluation

Macro-institutional factors

The macro-institutional setting concerns the broader institutional context that reveal formal and informal institutionalised rules and ideas on the role of evaluation. In comparison to the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Repatriation & Departure Service does not have in-house technical expertise on scientifically rigorous methods for evidence-based programming. When asked about the importance of achieving effective policy programmes, the involved policymaker mentioned that the organisation 'is used to work in an environment in which results are hard to achieve' and that they accept the uncertain results of information campaigns as part of the deal' since 'it is difficult to work in a recalcitrant reality' (R03).

The letter sent to the House of Representatives was signed by the Minister for Migration, formally the State Secretary for Justice & Security, who is politically responsible for the Repatriation & Departure Service. During the project proposal phase of this information campaign, which coincided with the research period and sounding board meetings of the Research & Documentation Centre, it was discussed that a broader evaluation component should be included in this information campaign. An involved policymaker, however, doubts the influence of WODC research on the activities of the Repatriation & Departure Service (R06). This might explain why the characteristics of the evaluation were to a large extent left to IOM Albania, that proposed to hire an external consultant for the evaluation (R04). Hiring

external consultants for their projects is not standardised for IOM Albania, as not all donors are eager to guarantee the independency of the project evaluation. For cost-saving purposes, these evaluations are sometimes also conducted internally. However, the organisation deems independency highly important in order to 'get the side of everyone' and establish 'the real impact of project activities' (R04). This is especially relevant for the evaluation of information campaigns, which are 'the most difficult to measure impact for' in comparison to other projects conducted by IOM Albania. The involved project manager mentioned that this is why they were happy that both the Netherlands and the Belgian authorities were sharing the same concern on the independency of the evaluation (R04). In other words, these macro-institutional factors are relevant to the high use of situational validation discourse in the evaluation document, as they provided an opportunity for hiring an external consultant that could undertake an elaborate evaluation on the relevance of the project.

Meso-institutional factors

The *Preventing Unsafe Migration from Albania towards European Member States* information campaign was the result of a visit of the Director of the Repatriation & Departure Service in 2016 (R06). During this visit, the Ministry of Social Affairs, the Albanian police, and the IOM Albania office advised to implement an information campaign and to terminate additional reintegration programmes, which are considered to be a pull factor for requesting asylum in the Netherlands (Joosten 2016; R03).

Firstly, the campaign should be contextualised within a series of information campaigns. Previous information campaigns were funded by other European donors, such as Spain and Belgium. This information campaign was co-funded by the Belgian Federal Public Service of Home Affairs (IBZ) and the Dutch Repatriation & Departure Service, although IOM Albania only entered a contract with the Dutch counterparts (R04). A co-funding mechanism with Belgian counterparts provided an opportunity for a more elaborate evaluation component. This strategic partnership with Belgium is not a coincidence, as both countries face the issue that sea harbours are used by Albanians to reach the United Kingdom. The choice for IOM Albania as implementing agency for these information campaigns is primarily explained by the fact that the Repatriation & Departure Service already collaborated with IOM Albania on issues regarding return migration, and their broad network in the country would make them the most fitting implementing partner (R03).

Furthermore, IOM Albania mentioned that this consultant was the same evaluator as the Belgian-funded information campaign of 2015, which was considered to be 'a good thing' in order to evaluate the sustainability of the program, as well as challenges that exist 'from one information campaign to the other' (R04). As opposed to the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, which provided considerable technical support to the IOM researchers, the Repatriation & Departure Service and the consultant had less contact throughout the evaluation process (R03). IOM Albania was more directly involved in the evaluation process, as they provided logistical support to the consultant. Furthermore, IOM staff was also interviewed by the consultant, which means that their perspective is included in the results of the evaluation (R04). Apart from that, state institution partners, including the State Social Service under the Albanian Ministry of Health and Social Welfare, regional social services and anti-trafficking committees, partners of related programmes, 'members of the communities' (families, returnees), and school directors and teachers were interviewed. The focus on situational validation can therefore explained by the fact that the governance network consisted to a lesser extent of technical evaluation experts, and to a higher extent of involved stakeholders that are locally involved in the Albanian migratory context.

On the relationship with the Repatriation & Departure Service, IOM Albania mentioned that the organisation is one of the most involved donors, which provides useful feedback to the project proposal of the follow-up campaign (R04). The Embassy of Tirana and the Repatriation & Departure Service provide coordinated input in this regard. Furthermore, IOM Albania regularly updated the involved stakeholders, including the Albanian counterparts, on the activities during the campaign by e-mail. This well-established relationship between the funders and the Repatriation & Departure Service might have facilitated critical perspectives in the evaluation document, which does not only focus on the achievements of the project, but also critically discusses the relevance of the project.

Finally, the Albanian information campaigns also show that communication between the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and the Dutch Repatriation & Departure Service takes place on the issue of information campaigns. The Ministry of Foreign Affairs provided feedback on the proposal for this campaign and the follow-up campaign, in which the Repatriation & Departure Service was advised to use return migrants in a similar way as *Migrants as Messengers*. Although this feedback was considered useful, the implementation of the campaign was deemed more important than raising the quality of the campaigns (R01). On the issue of policy learning with regards to information campaigns, the Ministry of Foreign Affairs is clearly seen as the

forerunner. For example, with regards to the future information campaign funded by AMIF, the policymaker involved mentioned that this information campaign is 'a positive thing for Foreign Affairs' if the Repatriation & Departure Service gains experience with 'these kinds' of campaigns. In other words, the lack of (elaborate) technical verification methods in the evaluation document can be explained by coordination procedures within the Dutch government, as these relatively expensive methods are funded by the forerunner on policy learning with regards to information campaigns, which is the Ministry of Foreign Affairs.

Micro-institutional factors

As opposed to the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Repatriation & Departure Service does not have a specific policy programme for information campaigns. Formally, information campaigns are an 'ad hoc instrument' used as 'one of the capacity building instruments' (R03). The Dutch Repatriation & Departure Service is part of the Ministry of Justice & Security. A policymaker involved in writing the letter to the House of Representatives in 2017 noted that both ministries do not necessarily have opposing, but do have different views on the purpose of information campaigns:

Because information campaigns lie with two ministries, you naturally get two views on migration. Foreign Affairs is all about: provide that message, prepare that group for their journey, develop the region (...). That is the development side of Foreign Affairs. Justice, in that period, was way too busy, and migrants from all sorts of safe countries came in 2016, the Georgians... you name it. For this reason, we wanted to have included in that letter that they should also be aimed at preventing irregular migration. Both ministries have different visions or goals with information campaigns (R06).

It should be noted that the Repatriation & Departure Service does not manage information campaigns in name of the Ministry of Justice & Security. As mentioned, this information campaign was decided upon by the organisation itself, after the director of the Repatriation & Departure Service visited Albania. However, this quote does capture how the Repatriation & Departure Service exhibits a slightly different policy goal in comparison to the Ministry of Foreign Affairs. As stated by the involved policymaker, the primary policy goal of the campaigns in Albania is to curb the number of asylum applications with low prospects of obtaining asylum (R03). A clear distinction is made between this policy goal and the policy goals of IOM, which are more focused on raising awareness about the futility and risks of irregular migration:

IOM uses more terms such as 'we stand for regular migration, against irregular migration', but they will not say so quickly that fewer asylum applications should be submitted. That is a bit of a nuance difference. Ultimately it is about the same. I think that the Minister for Migration would say that we want to reduce the number of asylum applications, rather than tell the House [IK: of Representatives] that we would like to raise awareness. It is whatever tone you choose, too. It is kind of a derivative of each other, I guess (R03).

This explains why the evaluation document critically examined whether information campaigns contribute to 'solving' Albanian irregular migration to the European Union, but at the same time also includes elements of societal vindication and ideological choice. This is because the evaluator included the perspectives of IOM staff and local stakeholders in the evaluation document.

However, as the core task of the Repatriation & Departure Service is to facilitate the returns or deportations of rejected asylum seekers to their country of origin, it is also in the interest of this organisation to safeguard the diplomatic relationship with the Albanian authorities. The high priority of this diplomatic relationship is clearly seen in the events leading up to the follow-up campaign. In April 2019, the Minister for Migration visited Albania and spoke to IOM Albania and the Albanian authorities, after which a follow-up campaign was confirmed. In the same year, IOM Albania submitted a proposal to a call on the European Asylum Migration and Integration Fund (AMIF), with Belgium and the Netherlands co-funding 10% of the budget. The latter provides more financial resources to implement an 'evidence-based' information campaign, such as the mobilisation of return migrants in a similar way as Migrants as Messengers. Yet, since the Minister for Migration had committed to an information campaign already, this information campaign will be implemented first (R03). This explains why the information campaign is societally vindicated on its role to facilitate cooperation with the Albanian authorities. As mentioned before, the Albanian authorities vice versa have a diplomatic interest in maintaining well-established relationships with the Dutch authorities in light of a possible visa suspension mechanism. This explains the discussions on societal vindication level as well.

Conclusion

Institutional factors on the macro-level show that this policy evaluation process can be explained by the fact that the WODC research and the subsequent letter to the House of Representatives brought attention to the value of a (more elaborate) evaluation component.

IOM Albania proposed an external evaluation as this was considered to be the best way to understand the 'impact' of the project. On the meso-level, a co-funding mechanism between the Netherlands and Belgium was established to release more funding, which provided opportunities to hire an external consultant that could undertake a more elaborate evaluation on the perspectives of the local stakeholders on the relevance of the project. On the micro-level, political interests show that, although the information campaigns are serving the policy goal of curbing irregular migration, they also facilitate diplomatic relationships, which benefits the core task of the Repatriation & Departure Service – returning migrants to Albania. The Albanian authorities also use the information campaigns to secure its current right to visa-free travel to the Schengen area. These macro-institutional factors explain why the Albanian evaluation document critically examined whether information campaigns contribute to solving irregular migration to the European Union.

Chapter 6: Comparative analysis

In this chapter, I analyse the empirical findings of the *Migrants as Messengers* campaigns and the IOM information campaigns in Albania by describing how and to what extent these differences in policy evaluation processes are explained in terms of diverging institutional settings. I also consider the extent to which the expectations of this study, which distinguished between micro-, meso-, and macro- institutional settings, have been met.

6.1 Evaluation analysis

This research started with the empirical observation that, although funded by the same government and implemented by the same IGO, the evaluation components of information campaigns show considerable differences. In both instances, the (academic) controversy on the effectiveness of information campaigns for the purpose of curbing irregular migration to the European Union, and the significance of evaluation components to measure the results of information campaigns, was known to the involved stakeholders due to a sceptical report by the Dutch Research & Documentation Centre (Schans & Optekamp, 2016).

The findings show that the involved stakeholders proceeded with the utilisation of different evaluative discourses to show the results of the campaigns (Fischer, 1999). The evaluation of the *Migrants as Messengers* campaign is primarily focused on verifying the extent to which the project activities are effective for reaching the project objectives with scientifically rigorous evaluation methods, which adheres to the technical verification discourse. In this sense, the implementation of this impact evaluation is a direct response to the criticism expressed by academia on the lack of adequate evaluation tools in this policy field (Brekke & Thorbjørnsrud, 2018). The responsiveness to earlier academic criticism is also reflected in the design of the campaign. The focus on return migrants and peer-to-peer communication is a result of the argument that top-down information provision from the European Union or its member states is generally not trusted (Schans & Optekamp, 2016). The findings of the evaluation suggest that working with returnees is more successful, as their emotional message has a large impact on risk perception and reducing intention to migrate irregularly.

The *Migrants as Messengers* impact evaluation confirms the methodological challenges related to evaluating the impact of information campaigns on irregular migration flows (Browne 2015; Heller 2014; McNevin 2016). Even with highly advanced scientific methods, migration *intention* is rigorously measured in this campaign, and not long-term behavioural change. Although the impact evaluations of the second phase of this campaign will reveal more insight

into long-term behavioural change, it should not be overlooked that the findings of randomised controlled trials ultimately remain highly contextual (Peters et al., 2014). In other words, this type of impact evaluations cannot show that information campaigns work everywhere, all the time, and in the same way (Parkhurst, 2016). This is especially relevant for a complex phenomenon such as irregular migration, which is influenced by many different factors 'ranging from individual characteristics of potential migrants and their transnational social networks, to macro level variables such as poverty, conflict and political instability' (Schans & Optekamp, 2016). In fact, the evaluation document reports that individual risk perception might not be 'the main problem' and that it is possible that these macro level variables outweigh individual risk perception in case of irregular migratory behaviour (Dunsch et al., 2019, p. 45). In short, the evaluation cannot prove that information campaigns are an effective policy tool for controlling irregular migration flows.

The evaluation of the Albanian information campaign is primarily focused on validating the relevance of awareness-raising activities in the context of rising irregular migration numbers to the European Union, which adheres to situational validation discourse (Fischer, 1999). The evaluation is in line with earlier research suggesting that irregular migration is not caused by a lack of information on the dangers related to irregular migration (Van Bemmel, 2020; Hernández-Carretero & Carling, 2012). Moreover, the decrease in irregular migration numbers from Albania to the European Union, together with an increase in 'accurate' perceptions on EU asylum procedures in the period of campaign implementation, are also due to the fact that acquaintances have returned from the European Union. The evaluation therefore advocates that the problem of irregular migration should be tackled with institutional solutions (Weiss & Tschirhart, 1994), in this case by opening up additional channels for regular migration. This is not a new idea in migration management, as the pioneers of migration management discourse widely advocated for more regular pathways in the 1990s (Ghosh, 2000). Yet, this 'regulated openness' is not considered a realistic option by the Dutch government, which shows how the perceived interest of the receiving state does not always align with the perceived interest of the sending state (Geiger & Pécoud, 2010).

The findings provide for multiple explanations why the involved stakeholders deem these information campaigns successful enough to continue with follow-up campaigns, despite the fact that the evaluations did not prove that they were effective for the purpose of reducing irregular migration flows to the European Union. Firstly, both campaigns highlight that

information campaigns are relatively inexpensive compared to the costs of one asylum seeker in the asylum procedure. This cost-benefit analysis shows that a relatively low number of potential migrants needs to refrain from irregularly migrating to the Netherlands in order to make the information campaign efficient (Weiss & Tschirhart, 1994). In the Albanian case, however, the uncertain results of the project activities were also taken into account, which caused the information campaign to be considered relatively expensive. This consideration is more related to a risk-benefit analysis, although the risks remain unquantified in this case (Fischer, 1999, p. 38).

Secondly, these explanations can be found on the level of societal vindication, although they differ considerably between the two information campaigns. In the context of *Migrants as Messengers*, it was argued that the campaigns have broader societal value, because by preventing irregular migration, they can protect migrants from human trafficking or drowning in the Mediterranean Sea. The possibility that migrants' lives can be saved is therefore reason enough to continue the project activities. The Albanian evaluation document highlights that information campaigns have broader societal value, because they have the potential of informing the public on existing job opportunities in Albania. Furthermore, the respondents highlighted in this context that the activities are useful to facilitate diplomatic relationships between state actors, and that they have a (symbolic) function of showing the Dutch public that measures are undertaken to stop irregular migration to the European Union.

This confirms the arguments made by Oeppen (2016) and Schans & Optekamp (2016), since information campaigns are indeed used symbolically by European government actors to 'be seen to be doing something' to control migration and prevent violations of human rights by the (voting) public of their countries. Furthermore, information campaigns can be used symbolically in order to facilitate diplomatic relationships between countries of origin and destination, confirming the argument by Nieuwenhuys & Pécoud (2007) that information campaigns facilitate cooperation with sending states. However, this also shows a more nuanced picture: better information campaigns are considered to be useful to provide factual information on key security measures during the irregular journey, which may prevent severe human rights violations and/or death by drowning in the Mediterranean Sea. This is a goal that should be considered separately from the migration management purpose, and is solely focused on the protection of the migrant. If the campaign is able to prevent irregular migration to a certain

extent but overall, irregular migration numbers increase due to other factors, the Dutch Ministry of Foreign Affairs still regards the information campaigns as successful.

Interestingly, the Albanian evaluation document also verifies the information campaign from an ideological perspective. Considering the human right to freedom of movement, the interviewees in this evaluation document argue that irregular migration should be tackled by providing more regular programmes for migration. Information campaigns do not necessarily contribute to this human right, unless when they are utilised for informing Albanian population on their migration rights. Contrarily, *Migrants as Messengers* is considered ideologically important from a rights-based perspective, as the project activities can help in making safer migration decisions, safeguarding human rights to life and torture and forced labour, for example (OHCHR, 2014). This shows how rights-based frameworks are mobilised both in favour and against the deployment of information campaigns (McNevin et al., 2016).

6.2 Institutional analysis

This research departed from the theoretical notion that information campaigns are designed, implemented and evaluated in complex policy systems, which means that multi-level institutional factors explain (diverging) evaluation processes (Sanderson, 2000). The empirical findings show that institutional factors on the macro-level, meso-level and micro-level all prove to have explanatory value in this regard, although in different ways.

Macro-institutional factors

Firstly, the diverging project evaluations can be explained by the broader administrative culture in which the information campaigns and their evaluations took place. The Dutch Ministry of Foreign Affairs makes use of technical verification discourse for its policies by utilising results-based frameworks, and has in-house technical expertise on impact evaluations with the existence of the Directorate of International Research and Policy Evaluation (IOB). Furthermore, it has wider experience with (scientifically rigid) impact evaluations through collaborations with development partners, such as the World Bank. This 'results-oriented culture' is based on the fact that the effectiveness of development aid has often been politically contested (Cracknell, 1996). In this sense, it can be argued that the high focus on technical verification for the *Migrants as Messengers* campaign is a result of the informal rules that guide ideas on evaluation processes (Turnpenny, 2008). Furthermore, policy procedures regarding WODC research (Schans & Optekamp, 2016) ensured that the Ministry of Foreign Affairs

formally committed to raising attention on the evaluation components of information campaigns. Finally, *Migrants is Messengers* is funded with Official Development Assistance (ODA), which gives the campaign a humanitarian purpose besides its migration management purpose. This explains the societal vindication argument that information campaigns are valuable, because they can potentially help (irregular) migrants with safer migration decisions.

The Ministry of Foreign Affairs approached the recently established GMDAC, IOM's data analysis centre, for the implementation of the impact evaluation. The establishment of GMDAC within IOM is meant to contribute to a 'paradigm shift' in international migration policy analysis by conducting scientifically rigorous impact evaluations (Dunsch et al., 2019). This indicates that IOM will most likely conduct more impact evaluations to demonstrate the impact and effectiveness of its policy programmes. This macro-institutional factor partially contradicts McNevin et al. (2016), who argue that the commissioner-producer principle which underlies the project management of IOM tend to produce 'light-touch' evaluations (for example, measuring the amount of people attending campaign activities) that safeguard the funding of follow-up campaigns. The mission of GMDAC clearly contradicts this criticism. However, it should be noted that this impact evaluation was conducted only several months after the campaign, which means that it was not able to capture the long-term effects of the campaign on migrant behaviour. This confirms the observations made by McNevin et al. (2016).

Compared to the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Repatriation & Departure Service is less focused on results-based programming. In the context of the Albanian information campaigns, IOM Albania requested an external evaluation from the donors, which the Repatriation & Departure Service agreed with in light of the formal commitment that the Minister for Migration made in the letter to the House of Representatives to raise the effectiveness of information campaigns. Although external evaluations are not standardised for IOM, hiring external consultants usually takes place whenever the donors ensure funding for it. The subsequent evaluation process confirms the remarks made by McNevin et al. (2016), since the evaluation falls short on measuring the (long-term) effectiveness of the campaign. Although the evaluation argues otherwise, it cannot be concluded that the campaign activities had a large impact on the project objectives. However, the evaluation report does provide a more critical, holistic picture of the relevance of the campaign with regards to irregular migration, arguing that other contextual factors and policies might have more impact than the campaign activities. This

contradicts McNevin et al. (2016), who argue that IOM evaluations have the primary function of showing campaigns' successes.

In other words, the macro-institutional environments of the information campaigns generally show that the 'existential' institutional constraints on part of IOM are partially mediated by the fact that the donor organisations committed to raising more attention on evaluation components of information campaigns. The expectation that both evaluations are focused on technical verification due to this commitment is only partially met, as the Albanian information campaign was more focused on situational validation discourse. This macro-institutional assessment hardly explains why the evaluation of the Albanian information campaign pertain mostly to the situational validation discourse. Hiring external consultants for more elaborate evaluations in order to gain insight on the perceived impact of the campaign by relevant stakeholders may be institutionalised practise within IOM, but this remains unclear. Furthermore, the expectation that societal vindication and ideological choice discourse are more relevant to information campaigns funded by development and humanitarian budget lines is refuted. In fact, these discourses were explicitly mentioned in the Albanian evaluation document, whereas they were largely absent from the *Migrants as Messengers* document.

Finally, the assessment only partially confirms the expectation that funders have a large influence on the evaluation process. Although the funders are in charge of the budget, institutional factors on part of IOM, as well as networks with other relevant stakeholders, determine how an evaluation process unfolds. This is illustrated most clearly by the fact that the impact evaluation of the first phase of *Migrants as Messengers* was not funded by the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, but by the British government. This shows the importance of mesoinstitutional assessments.

Meso-institutional factors

Factors on the institutional meso-level show that both evaluations should be contextualised within complex governance networks (Sanderson, 2000). In both cases, governance networks with other EU member states provided opportunities for co-funding mechanisms, which means that both campaigns were able to include more elaborate evaluation components (Van Selm, 2008). The more elaborate governance networks of the *Migrants as Messengers* campaign compared to the Albanian information campaigns explain why technical verification was used

more elaborately and with more rigorous methods. Firstly, this is because networks with several EU member states on the topic of enhancing effectiveness for information campaigns were formed, which have now grown into a regular technical working group facilitated by the European Migration Network (Koon et al., 2013). Secondly, this is because, through these governance networks, the involvement of GMDAC was manifested with funding from the British Department for International Development. GMDAC, in turn, invited external consultants to assist in the evaluation process. In the case of the Albanian information campaigns, the collaboration with the Belgian Federal Public Service of Home Affairs (IBZ) did not concern the funding of the evaluation component, but the overall funding of the campaign. The participation of technical experts in the evaluation process therefore remained relatively limited.

The more elaborate governance network of the *Migrants as Messengers* campaign can also be explained as a result of coordination procedures within the Dutch government. The Ministry of Foreign Affairs is established as the forerunner on Dutch policy on information campaigns. The Repatriation & Departure Service therefore leaves issues related to policy learning for information campaigns to this Ministry. For this reason, the Ministry of Foreign Affairs has more budget available for the funding of larger information campaigns with more innovative approaches, such as the use of return migrants. More importantly, the Ministry has the funding to implement impact evaluations, which is costly compared to other types of evaluations considering the high amount of required human resources (Ardittis & Laczko, 2008).

In both governance networks, the respondents underline the respectable relationship between the government actor and the IOM offices. Communication on the information campaigns takes place on a regular basis, in which (technical) feedback from the donor organisations is common (Van Selm, 2008). The Ministry of Foreign Affairs highlighted that implementing organisations indeed tend to report more positively on project results to ensure future funding (McNevin et al., 2016), so it is important to establish mutual trust in order to facilitate policy learning. IOM Albania regularly updates the Repatriation & Departure Service on their campaign results and receives elaborate feedback from the donor organisation on project proposals. This might explain why both evaluation documents included critical components, such as the limitations of the impact evaluation in case of the *Migrants as Messengers* campaign, and the critical opinions on the relevance of information campaigns in the Albanian context.

Both campaigns hired external consultants for the evaluation process, but the consultants had a different function in the evaluation process, which resulted in a more 'external' evaluation for the Albanian information campaign (Balthasar, 2009). With regards to the Migrants as Messengers, the consultants provided more technical assistance in the first phase, resulting in the more elaborate use of technical verification discourse. The involved respondents explained the benefits of the fact that GMDAC is formally part of IOM, as it facilitates interaction between the evaluators and the implementers. These feedback loops constitute policy learning through participation of the implementing and funding actors in the evaluation process (Patton, 1997). In this governance network, elaborate communication between the evaluators and the involved 'donors' takes place, although only to a small extent with the Ministry of Foreign Affairs in the first phase of the campaign. IOM Albania expressed that the independence of the evaluator is necessary to make the research findings more accountable and to make sure that different perspectives on the functioning of information campaigns are included. Communication between the evaluator and the 'donors' did not take place during this evaluation process. This fits the assumption that government funds are more legitimate if evaluated by an external evaluator (Conley-Tylor, 2005). The notion of IOM Albania that different perspectives should be included in order to measure 'impact' also explains the research methods of this evaluation, which resulted in the more elaborate use of situational validation, as well as elements of societal vindication and ideological choice, in the evaluation document.

In short, the meso-institutional environment shows that the focus on technical verification in the *Migrants as Messengers* evaluation can be explained because a co-funding mechanism with the British government facilitated a relatively costly impact evaluation, confirming the theoretical expectation that more elaborate evaluations can be established with multiple donors (Van Selm, 2008). Moreover, coordination within the Dutch government established that information campaigns are primarily funded by the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, which means that this Ministry has more budget available for funding impact evaluations than the Repatriation & Departure Service. The focus on situational validation, societal vindication (and to a small extent ideological choice) in the Albanian evaluation document can be explained because it concerned an evaluation in which the external evaluator included the perspectives of the involved stakeholders in the evaluation document. This led to an assessment in which the project's relevance was established for the overall problem situation, as well as for Albania's society as a whole. The quality of the relationship between the funder, implementing agency and/or evaluator is not of high explanatory value with regards to situational validation. In fact,

more communication takes place between the funder and evaluators in the *Migrants as Messengers* campaign, which is highly focused on technical verification. This expectation has therefore not been met.

Micro-institutional factors

The policy interests of the involved stakeholders provide for multiple micro-institutional explanations for the (diverging) evaluative discourses. Both the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and the Repatriation & Departure Service have a policy interest in decreasing irregular migration to the European Union, and regard information campaigns as a potential policy tool for this migration management purpose (Nieuwenhuys & Pécoud, 2007). This is especially the case for the Repatriation & Departure Service, which deploys these information campaigns to curb the number of Albanian 'climbers' (*inklimmers*) from the Dutch sea harbours to the UK, as well as to prevent Albanians from 'misusing' the Dutch asylum procedure as they are citizens from an identified safe country. The informal cost-benefit analysis illustrates most clearly how this policy interest translates into technical verification, which demonstrates that the costs of information campaigns outweigh the costs of one asylum seeker in the Dutch asylum procedure. This policy interest also explains why *Migrants as Messengers* is technically verified on its effects on migration intention in Phase I, and directly on irregular migration behaviour in Phase II. Finally, it explains why the Albanian evaluation document critically examined whether information campaigns contribute to solving irregular migration to the European Union.

However, both government actors also possess other policy interests for which information campaigns are utilised. The Ministry of Foreign Affairs has committed to the policy goal of protecting migrants on the move, specifically from human trafficking. This is not necessarily a 'by-product of the cooperation between sending and receiving states and nonstate actors which need to find a common ground to develop common actions' as Nieuwenhuys & Pécoud suggest (2007, p. 1690). Indeed, human trafficking issues are recognised as an easier topic to cooperate on with the authorities of countries of origin, because the countries of origin have an interest to protect their citizens from human trafficking. However, the Ministry shares humanitarian concerns related to human trafficking in sending and transit countries. This explains why information campaigns are societally vindicated on their contribution to human rights, as they can help migrants in making safer migration decisions after they have embarked on their irregular journey.

The instrumental use of information campaigns to facilitate cooperation with the sending state is more prominent in the case of the Albanian information campaign. The Repatriation & Departure Service utilises information campaigns for maintaining a respectable relationship with the Albanian authorities and vice versa. This relationship is important for its primary mission: the (forced) return of rejected asylum seekers and irregular migrants to their countries of origin. The Albanian authorities, risking its current right to visa-free travel in the Schengen area, also regards the information campaigns as a tool to maintain this diplomatic relationship. These policy interests differ from IOM Albania, which primarily advocates for opening up more regular pathways to the European Union to tackle irregular migration. Such 'nuance differences', as one respondent framed it, show most directly that information campaigns are indeed formulated in discourse coalitions, in which the objectives of the stakeholders involved differ under the umbrella of the shared 'awareness-raising' project objectives (Czaika & De Haas, 2016).

Interestingly, the policy goals of IOM Albania explain the presence of societal vindication and ideological choice in the Albanian document. This is a direct result of the fact that the consultant included the perspectives of IOM staff on the usefulness of information campaigns for reducing irregular migration in her research. Furthermore, the notion that information campaigns can contribute to local development by informing Albanians on job opportunities in the country may be a result of the fact that state institution partners were interviewed by the consultant, including the State Social Service under the Albanian Ministry of Health and Social Welfare and regional social service offices.

In short, this micro-institutional assessment on the policy interests of the involved actors explain why *Migrants as Messengers* is technically verified on its impact on migration intention, because the Ministry of Foreign Affairs has a policy interest in reducing the number of irregular migrants to the EU. Similarly, the IOM information campaign in Albania is situationally validated on its relevance for irregular migration to the European Union out of policy interests of both the Repatriation & Departure Service and the Albanian authorities to reduce the number of irregular migrants. This confirms the expectations highlighted in chapter two. The differences in societal vindication discourse are explained by the fact that the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, IOM and the authorities of the West African countries of origin have a policy interest in protecting people on the move, who face multiple life-threatening dangers in transit

countries and while trying to cross the Mediterranean Sea. Unlike the expectation highlighted in chapter two, which argued that this Dutch policy objective is purely to facilitate cooperation with the sending states, this is because the protection of people on the move is an explicit policy goal of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs (Nieuwenhuys & Pécoud, 2007). This is less prevalent in the Dutch-Albanian case, where the policy interests of the Repatriation & Departure Service and the Albanian authorities are more focused on curbing irregular migration flows to the European Union. However, the policy interests IOM Albania and local stakeholders, such as social services, explain why social vindication and ideological choice are used to highlight the broader societal value of information campaigns and to advocate for the human right to freedom of movement.

Chapter 7: Conclusion and policy recommendations

In this final chapter, I make concluding remarks on this research in section 7.1. After that, I situate these conclusions in the general academic debate on information campaigns in section 7.2. Finally, I discuss the limitations of this research, as well as alternative interpretations of the research findings in section 7.4. Finally, in section 7.4, I explicate multiple policy recommendations that can be derived from the findings of this research.

7.1 Conclusion

Migration-related *information- and awareness campaigns* have been criticised for their lack of effectiveness to reduce 'irregular' forms of migration. Although the lack of adequate evaluation tools has been identified as one of the causes for this ineffectiveness, an in-depth assessment of the evaluation processes of these information campaigns is still missing (Brekke & Thorbjørnsrud, 2018). In order to fill this important gap in academic literature, the aim of this research was to answer the following research question:

How are information- and awareness campaigns evaluated and how can these evaluation patterns be explained?

Although both funded by the Dutch government and implemented by the International Organisation for Migration, the evaluations of the Migrants as Messengers information campaign and the Preventing Unsafe Migration from Albania Towards European Member States information campaign show considerable differences. Adhering to technical verification discourse, the Migrants as Messengers evaluation is far more advanced in measuring the impact and effectiveness of the project activities. However, the evaluation of the IOM campaign in Albania allows for a more critical perspective on the relevance of information campaigns for the identified problem of irregular migration to the European Union with the use of situational validation discourse (Fischer, 1999). These differences in first-order evaluation can be explained by institutional factors on the micro-, meso-, and macro-level (Turnpenny et al., 2008). The Department of Stability and Humanitarian Aid of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs is the main funder of information campaigns within the Dutch government, and has a resultsbased culture with technical expertise on impact evaluations through its engagement with international (development) organisations. Moreover, the establishment of a data analysis centre (GMDAC) within IOM, as well as a GMDAC impact evaluation project funded by the British Department for International Development, explain why Migrants as Messengers is primarily technically verified. Contrarily, a co-funding mechanism between the Dutch Repatriation & Departure Service and the Belgian Federal Public Service of Home Affairs (IBZ) provided an opportunity to fund an external consultant to evaluate the Albanian information campaign. This consultant captured the perspectives of the involved stakeholders on the relevance of the project activities in the context of 'solving' the issue of irregular migration to the European Union.

Both campaigns also induced second-order evaluative discourse. On the level of societal vindication, Migrants as Messengers is evaluated on its value to inform potential migrants on the dangers related to the irregular journey, which can help them in making safer migration decisions. The Albanian case highlights that information campaigns are valuable for spreading information about existing job opportunities in the country. Moreover, the campaigns facilitate diplomatic cooperation between the Dutch and Albanian authorities and they are symbolically valuable for showing the Dutch public that measures are undertaken to deter irregular migrants from 'safe countries' (Oeppen, 2016). On the level of ideological choice, rights-based discourses are mobilised in different ways (McNevin, 2016). From the perspective of the human right to freedom of movement, interviewees in the Albanian evaluation document argue that information campaigns are only ideologically contributive when combined with regular migration channels and if utilised for informing the Albanian population on their migration rights. Considering the human rights that are violated in cases of human trafficking, Migrants as Messengers is evaluated as valuable for protecting migrants, which is ideologically important for its potential to safe migrant's lives. These differences can be explained by the fact that Migrants as Messengers is funded with Dutch Official Development Assistance, as well as the humanitarian policy goal of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs to protect people on the move. The Repatriation & Departure Service deploys the Albanian information campaigns more instrumentally for the goal of curbing irregular migration and, as a secondary goal, to facilitate diplomatic cooperation on return migration. However, since the consultant included the perspectives of stakeholders such as IOM Albania and local social services, the document expresses the broader societal potential of information campaigns, as well as their ideological contribution to the right to freedom of movement if combined with more regular migration channels.

7.2 Theoretical and empirical contributions

This research offers multiple significant contributions to the field of migration- and public administration studies. Most significantly, it seeks to link Fischer's (1999) conceptual framework on evaluation discourses with new institutionalist thought (March & Olsen, 1984), in order to gain a better understanding on the institutional circumstances that influence the deployment of technical verification, situational validation, societal vindication and ideological choice discourse. This research shows that, although micro-institutional factors have significant explanatory value, meso- and macro-institutional factors are of explanatory value as well, underlying the importance of institutional assessments compared to rational assessments (Turnpenny et al., 2008). This is especially relevant for international policies where projects are subcontracted to IGOs or other third parties. The governance networks of these evaluation processes are highly complex, which necessitates a multi-layered conceptual framework that is able to capture the influence of informal rules that guide ideas about evaluation within multiple organisations (Sanderson, 2000). However, this research is only a modest contribution to this theoretical notion. Wider research into the meso- and macro-institutional factors is needed in order to reveal how the relationship between these institutional factors and evaluation discourses manifests itself beyond a small case study.

Secondly, one of the questions which has preoccupied academics in the field of migration studies is why EU policies 'seem to have had little success in preventing unwanted flows and effectively managing immigration' (Castles, 2004, p. 205). This case study on information campaigns contributes to understanding why this is the case from both a policy and implementation perspective (Czaika & de Haas, 2016). Although the formal policy objective is to decrease irregular migration, information campaigns are also designed to help (irregular) migrants in making safer migration choices (during their journey), to symbolise government concern to the Dutch public, or to facilitate diplomatic relationships between state actors. These objectives do not require information campaigns to be highly effective for a migration management purpose. At the same time, this study also illustrates the challenges of conducting information campaigns for the purpose of migration management, as it is a soft policy tool based on advice and persuasion. How the information that these campaigns try to convey will translate into behaviour, remains highly dependent on both individual and societal characteristics (Schans & Optekamp, 2016). It is therefore important to point out that the evaluations of these information campaigns should not only be focused on measuring the impact on behavioural changes prior to the irregular journey, but also on measuring their contributions to the purposes highlighted above, especially on their value for protecting migrants on the move. Only with this more holistic understanding on the multiple purposes of information campaigns, a balanced assessment can be made on the benefits and limitations of these policy projects (Mendelsohn, 1973).

Thirdly, this research is one of the first academic studies which highlights the role of GMDAC within IOM. This is an important empirical finding for two reasons. Firstly, the impact evaluations that GMDAC conducts for Migrants as Messengers are interesting developments, not only for the field of migration but for the general policy field of public information campaigns, as an attempt will be made to reveal the direct causal mechanisms between campaign activity and migration behaviour (Weiss & Tschirhart, 1994). Secondly, the establishment of GMDAC shows how IOM has not only responded to calls for better international migration data and analysis, but also to establish more evidence-based programming in order to increase the effectiveness of migration policies. This shows the empirical significance of the so-called 'EBP-movement' for the field of migration policy (Parkhurst, 2016). Although it is highly important to provide better answers to the question 'what works' in migration policy, this research has indicated that this is primarily a step forward in evaluative technical verification discourse (Fischer, 1999). Moreover, some critics argue that this focus on evidence-based programming risks obscuring the wider political and social values at stake (Pécoud 2010; Wesselink et al., 2014). These empirical observations provide for interesting starting points for comparative research on the use of evidence-based policymaking by IGOs, for instance on the role of evidence-based policymaking within IOM compared to development agencies such as the World Bank. As mentioned in this research, these development agencies have wider experience with rigorous impact evaluations. An investigation on the formal and informal rules that guide these evaluation processes might reveal which institutional circumstances are needed to 'embed key principles about evidence utilisation into policy processes' (Parkhurst, 2016).

In the fourth place, this study is significant for showing how evaluation systems established within governments can impact international migration policies (Van Selm, 2008). Formal policy procedures, in which research conducted by the Research & Documentation Centre (WODC) is generally communicated to the House of Representatives with an official policy response, are important mechanisms that can ensure the use of evaluation findings in policy processes. This underlines the significance of institutions such as the WODC, which produced

a research that is not only important for the Dutch policy environment, but is also significant for international policy circles, including the IOM (Schans & Optekamp, 2016). Secondly, this research highlights the importance of the Directorate of International Research and Policy Evaluation of the Dutch Ministry of Foreign Affairs to provide for a critical perspective on IOM evaluations. These mechanisms, which 'governs the use of evidence within policymaking' (Parkhurst, 2016), are interesting starting points for more comparative research on evaluation systems within migration policy in a similar vein to Van Selm (2008), in order to establish how institutions influence to role of evaluation research in the policy process (Giorgio et al., 2002).

Most importantly, the findings of this research provide for multiple explanations why the information campaigns, despite the fact that the evaluations did not prove that they were effective for the policy goal of reducing irregular migration, are still deemed successful enough by the involved stakeholders to continue with follow-up campaigns. In order to come to a better understanding of the benefits and limitations of information campaigns, academics should therefore pay as much attention to delineating the elements of success of information campaigns as has previously been allotted to demonstrating their failure (Mendelsohn, 1973, p. 61). In other words, these 'soft' policy tools focused on persuasion and advice should be analysed and evaluated beyond their goal of changing 'undesired' behaviour. Only then we are able to fully grasp their growing popularity in migration policy.

7.3 Limitations

In contrast to its valuable contributions, this research also contains multiple limitations, resulting from the chosen theories and methods, as well as the case selection. Firstly, there are multiple gaps in the macro-, meso- and micro-level institutional assessments. Compared to the meso- and macro-analyses, the macro-institutional analysis is less elaborate, especially for the IOM information campaign in Albania. It could be institutionalised practise for IOM Albania that in evaluation processes with an external consultant, in-depth qualitative interviews with the involved stakeholders take place on the relevance of the project for the problem situation. In this case, the macro-institutional environment does explain why this particular evaluation mostly used situational validation. On the meso-level, it is uncertain how the co-funders of these campaigns, the United Kingdom and Belgium, have influenced the evaluation process. Especially in the case of *Migrants as Messengers*, the respondents argued that the British focus on evidence-based policymaking has a relatively large influence on the way DFID funded projects are evaluated. Moreover, the organisational interests of IOM, especially GMDAC in

the case of Migrants as Messengers, are largely missing from the micro-institutional assessment.

Secondly, this institutional assessment is not able to capture the links between the micro-, meso- and macro-institutional factors. For example, in the case of *Migrants as Messengers*, the research-based culture of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs influenced the fact that governance networks were formed on the effectiveness of information campaigns. Furthermore, evaluation patterns can often be explained by multiple institutional factors. For example, the technical involvement of the Directorate of International Research & Policy Evaluation is both a macro-level explanation for technical verification discourse, as well as a meso-level explanation. In other words, although this conceptual framework is useful for capturing complex policy systems, it does have practical limitations when applied empirically.

Thirdly, although the campaigns have similar organisational settings, it should not be overlooked that the broader context of these information campaigns are highly dissimilar. *Migrants as Messengers* is implemented in West African countries: increased irregular migration from these countries to the European Union has been accompanied with the high increase of missing migrants or migrant deaths, which makes the humanitarian concern on irregular migration naturally pressing. Although human trafficking still prevails in Albania and from Albania to the European Union, Albanians are able to travel without visa to the Schengen area, principally without the help of smugglers and traffickers. Secondly, Albania is in the process of becoming an EU-member state and is declared a 'safe country', which practically means that Albanian asylum seekers go through an accelerated asylum procedure in the Netherlands. This is not the case for the West African countries targeted in the *Migrants as Messengers* campaign, which are, with the exception of Senegal, not on the Dutch list of 'safe countries'. These factors could have played a role in the different project evaluations, but due the limited scope of this research I was unable to capture how they could have influenced the evaluation processes.

Finally, an important limitation related to the case selection is the time frame of this research. The IOM information campaign in Albania will have a second follow-up campaign in 2021, which is supported by the AMIF-fund and will make use of the innovative approaches of *Migrants as Messengers*, such as the mobilisation of trust networks through return migrants. It is not unlikely that the project funding for this campaign will allow for a more similar

evaluation component as *Migrants as Messengers*, which will make this institutional comparison less relevant. Moreover, although this was not the purpose of this research, this indicates that a definitive reflection on the practical implications of the letter that was sent to the House of Representatives is too early.

7.4 Policy recommendations

Based on the empirical and theoretical observations of this research, several policy recommendations can be made that apply both to the Dutch government actors involved in information- and awareness campaigns, as well as to the International Organisation for Migration.

1. Complement current impact evaluations of information campaigns with longitudinal research designs

A recurring theme in this research is the fact that the project evaluations were only able to capture the short-term impact of information campaigns on migrant behaviour. As a result, it is currently unclear *how long* the information campaigns are able to influence risk perception, and if risk perception and knowledge levels are relevant catalysers for migration intention and behaviour at all (McNevin, 2016). Longitudinal research designs that track potential migrants over multiple years, aimed at understanding which factors determine why someone decides to stay or leave the country of origin after campaign activities have taken place, can increase understanding on these programme theories. Furthermore, research should be conducted on how the campaign activities have influenced the irregular journey, in order to investigate in which ways the activities were able to help migrants in making safer decisions not only before, but also *during* the irregular journey.

2. Clarify the different policy objectives of information- and awareness campaigns

The project rationales and problem definition describe irregular migration flows to the European Union as the 'problem', which can cause confusion on whether information campaigns are aimed to 'solve' this problem. As this research has showed, information campaigns are used for a variety of policy goals that are not always clearly communicated. As a result, the main focus of the controversy surrounding information campaigns is about their lack of effectiveness when used for migration management purposes. If it is explicitly mentioned that information campaigns also, or perhaps primarily, aim to be effective for informing migrants on the dangers they may encounter along their irregular journey, this can

enhance understanding on why information campaigns do not necessarily have to be highly effective for curbing irregular migration flows to the European Union. This type of goal clarification also enhances the legitimacy of the evidence resulting from evaluation research (Parkhurst, 2016, p. 142).

3. Integrate second-order policy evaluation in policy- and project evaluation systems

In their review on public information campaigns in multiple policy domains, Weiss & Tschirhart (1994) argue that information campaigns raise both positive and negative normative concerns. This necessitates a division between campaigns with 'good' and 'bad' effects, which is impossible, because all information campaigns seem to possess both (p. 100). Migration-related information campaigns are no exception to these concerns. Some academics argue that, although they can balance harmful information provided by human traffickers, they also perpetuate the idea that irregular migration is the result of human traffickers and 'misbehaving' migrants only (Oeppen, 2016). Others raise the idea that European policymakers cynically design information campaigns to 'confer a sympathetic and human face to their migration-control policies' (Nieuwenhuys & Pécoud, 2007, p. 1690).

In order to contribute to the resolution of these controversies, evaluation research has a role to play in investigating these normative concerns, by complementing existing evaluation research with second-order policy evaluations (Giorgio et al., 2002). The debate on the effectiveness of information campaigns has led to more impact evaluations, which is an important step forward and can bring significant insight to which strategies work better to raise awareness on the implications of (irregular) migration or enhance risk perceptions. However, besides bringing nuance to the variety of information campaigns that exist, they do not contribute to resolving these normative concerns. The question why information campaigns are useful beyond their purpose of controlling irregular migration flows has shortly been touched upon by the research conducted by the Dutch Research & Documentation Centre (WODC) (Schans & Optekamp, 2016), but can and should be further elaborated upon. Project- and policy evaluations can contribute to the resolution of these normative controversies by elaborately explicating the underlying ideologies of information campaigns, in order to reveal which social values are at stake (Wesselink, 2014).

4. Install (more) policy procedures that ensure the appropriate use of evaluation research for policymaking

In order to guarantee the 'good' use of evidence for migration policy, evaluation systems should 'work to embed key normative principles about evidence utilisation into policy processes' (Parkhurst, 2016). An important finding of this research is that the policy procedures regarding WODC research led to the formal commitment of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and the Repatriation & Departure Service to raise the effectiveness of information campaigns, by paying extra attention to evaluation components. This underlines the institutional importance of the WODC, which has an important role to play in bridging academic circles with policy circles. At the same time, this raises questions about the democratic potential of the WODC. The WODC could more actively communicate its research findings to the Dutch public in order to facilitate public deliberation and engagement (Parkhurst, 2016). This is especially relevant for a topic such as information- and awareness campaigns, which is an abstract topic for many Dutch citizens.

References

- Ardittis, S. & F. Laczko (2008). Introduction. In: Ardittis, S. & Laczko, F. (eds).

 *Assessing the Costs and Impacts of Migration Policy: An International Comparison (p. 1-14). Hammersmith Press: London, United Kingdom.
- Balthasar, A. (2009). Institutional Design and Utilization of Evaluation: A Contribution to a Theory of Evaluation Influence Based on Swiss Experience. *Evaluation Review*, 33, 226-256.
- Basok, T. & N. Piper (2012). Management versus Rights: Women's Migration and Global Governance in Latin America and the Caribbean. *Feminist Economics*, 18, 35-61.
- Baldwin-Edwards, M. & D. Lutterbeck (2019). Coping with the Libyan Migration Crisis. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 45, 2241-2257.
- Bekkers, V., Fenger, M., & Scholten, P. (2018). Four perspectives on the policy process.

 In: Bekkers V., M. Fenger and P. Scholten (Eds.). *Perspectives on public policy*. Edward Elgar Publishing: Cheltenham, United Kingdom.
- Bemmel, S. van (2020). The perception of risk among unauthorized migrants in Ghana. *Journal of risk research*, 23, 47-61.
- Browne (2015). Impact of Communication Campaigns to Deter Irregular Migration. GSDRC Applied Knowledge Services, Birmingham.
- Brekke, J. & K. Thorbjørnsrud (2018). Communicating borders Governments deterring asylum seekers through social media campaigns. *Migration Studies*, 1-23.
- Bryman (2012). *Social Research Methods*. Fourth Edition. Oxford U Press: Oxford, United Kingdom.
- Carling, J. & M. Hernández-Carretero (2011). 'Protecting Europe and protecting migrants?' Strategies for managing unauthorised migration from Africa. *The British Journal of Politics and International Relations*, 13, 42-58.
- Cracknell, B. (1996). Evaluating Development Aid: Strengths and Weaknesses. *Evaluation*, 2, 23-33.
- Castles, S. (2004). Why migration policies fail. Ethnic and Racial Studies, 27, 205-227.
- Czaika, M. & H. de Haas (2016). Evaluating Migration Policy Effectiveness. In: A.

 Triandafyllidou (Ed.), *Routledge Handbook of Immigration and Refugee Studies* (p. 34-40). Routledge: London, United Kingdom.
- Czaika, M. & H. de Haas (2016). The Effectiveness of Immigration Policies. *Population and*

- Development Review, 39, 487-508.
- Chapell, L. & F. Laczko (2011, June 8). 'What Are We Really Achieving? Building an

 Evaluation Culture in Migration and Development'. *Migration Information Source – The Online Journal of the Migration Policy Institute*. Retrieved from:

 https://www.migrationpolicy.org/article/what-are-we-really-achieving-building-evaluation-culture-migration-and-development on 15 February 2020.
- Conley-Tyler, M. (2005). A fundamental choice: internal or external evaluation? *Evaluation Journal of Australasia*, 4, 3-11.
- Dijkhoff, K.H.D.M. & L. Ploumen (2017, 22 March). TK Bijlage Raising awareness changing behavior. Retrieved from:

 https://www.rijksoverheid.nl/documenten/rapporten/2017/03/22/tk-bijlage-raising-awareness-changing-behavior on 15 November 2019
- DeHaven-Smith, L. (1988). *Philosophical Critiques of Policy Analysis: Lindblom, Habermas, and the Great Society*. University of Florida Press, Gainesville: United States of America.
- Dunsch, A.F., J. Tjaden & W. Quiviger (2019). Migrants as Messengers The Impact of Peer-to-Peer Communication of Potential Migrants in Senegal. Impact Evaluation Report. Geneva: International Organisation for Migration & GMDAC IOM's Global Migration Data Analysis Centre.
- Duffield, M. (2001). Governing the Borderlands: Decoding the Power of Aid. *Disasters*, 25, 308-320.
- European Migration Network (2017). EMN Ad Hoc Query: Information Campaigns through Social Media Channels. *European Migration Network*, 15 September 2017.
- Fischer, F. (1999). *Evaluating Public Policy*. Nelson-Hall Publishers: Chigago, United States of America.
- Fischer, F. (2003). Chapter 9: Policy Analysis as Discursive Practice: The Argumentative Turn. In: F, Fischer (ed.). *Reframing Public Policy: Discursive Politics and Deliberative Practices* (p. 181-202). Oxford: Oxford U Press.
- Geiger, M. (2010). Chapter 7: Mobility, Development, Protection, EU-Integration! The IOM's National Migration Strategy for Albania. In: In: Geiger, M. & A. Pécoud (eds.).
 The Politics of International Migration Management (p. 141-157). Palgrave & Macmillan: London, United Kingdom.

- Georgi, F. & S. Schaltral (2012). Towards a Critical Theory of Migration Control: The Case of the International Organization for Migration. In: Geiger, M. (eds). *The New Politics of International Mobility: Migration Management and its Discontents*. U of Osnabrück, Osnabrück, Germany.
- Ghosh, B. (2000). *Managing Migration: Time for a New International Regime?* Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Giorgi, L. et al. (2002). *Project and Policy Evaluation in Transport*. Routledge: Oxon, United States of America.
- Greve, B. (2017). Introduction. In: Greve, B. (Ed.) *Handbook of Social Policy Evaluation*. Edward Elgar Publishing: Cheltenham, United Kingdom.
- Gupta, K. (2012). Comparative public policy: Using the comparative method to advance our understanding of the policy process. *Policy Studies Journal*, 40, 11–26.
- Gornitzka, Å. & U. Sverdrup (2008) Who consults? The configuration of expert groups in the European Union. *West European Politics* 31, 725-750.
- Hernández-Carretero, M. & J. Carling (2012). Beyond "Kamikaze Migrants": Risk Taking in West African Boat Migration to Europe. *Human Organization*, 71, 407-416.
- Hajer, M. (1993). Discourse coalitions and the Institutionalization of Practice: The Case of Acid Rain in Britain. In: F. Fischer & J. Forester (eds.) *The Argumentative Turn in Policy Analysis and Planning* (p. 43-76). Duke U Press: Durham and London.
- Handmaker, J. & C. Mora (2014): 'Experts': the mantra of irregular migration and the reproduction of hierarchies. In: Ambrus et. al. (eds). The Role of 'Experts' in International and European Decision-Making Processes: Advisors, Decision Makers or Irrelevant Actors? (p. 263-287). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Heller, C. (2014). Perception management Deterring potential migrants through information campaigns. *Global media and Communication*, 10, 303-318.
- Halligan, John (1995) 'Policy advice and the public service'. In: Peters, G. & D. Savoie (eds.)Governance in a Changing Environment, 138–172. Montreal: Canadian Centre for Management Development.
- Hammersley, M. (2005). Is the evidence-based practice movement doing more good than harm? Reflections on Ian Chalmers' case for research-based policy making and practice. *The Policy Press*, 1, 85-100.
- IOM (2019). 'Migrants as Messengers: The Impact of Peer-to-Peer Communication on

- Potential Migrants in Senegal Impact Evaluation Report. *International Organisation for Migration*. Retrieved from https://publications.iom.int/books/migrants-messengers-impact-peer-peer-communication-potential-migrants-senegal-impact on 15 February 2020.
- Jong, de S. & P. Dannecker (2017). Managing Migration with Stories? The IOM 'I am a Migrant Campaign'. *Journal für Entwicklungspolitiek*, 8, 75-101.
- Joosten, C. (2016). 'Topvrouw Justitie: Het kinderpardon frustreerde ons werk'. *Elsevier Weekblad*, 10 November 2016. Retrieved from LexusUni on 19 May 2020.
- Klijn, E.H. & J. Koppenjan (2016). *Governance Networks in the Public Sector*. Routledge: London. United Kingdom.
- Koon, A., et al. (2013). 'Embedding health policy and systems research into decision-making processes in low-and middle-income countries'. *Health Research Policy and Systems* 11, 30-50.
- Lane, J. (2000). New Public Management. Routledge: London, United Kingdom.
- Layder, D. (1998). Sociological practice: Linking theory and social research. SAGE: Los Angeles.
- Liket, K. (2017). 'Challenges for policy-makers: Accountability and Cost-effectiveness'. In: Greve, B. (Ed.) *Handbook of Social Policy Evaluation*. Edward Elgar Publishing: Cheltenham, United Kingdom.
- Mendelsohn, H. (1973). Some reasons why information campaigns can succeed. *Public Opinion Quarterly*, 37, 50-61.
- March, J. G. & J. P. Olsen (1984). The New Institutionalism: Organizational Factors in Political Life. *American Political Science Review*, 78, 734–49
- Mbaye, L.M. (2014). Barcelona or die: understanding illegal migration from Senegal. *IZA Journal of Migration*, 3, 21 39.
- McNevin, A., A. Missbach & D. Mulyana (2016). The Rationalities of Migration Management:

 Control and Subversion in an Indonesia-Based Counter Smuggling Campaign. *International Political Sociology*, 223-240.
- Migrants as Messengers (2020, 12 June). Brown Okojie testimony [Facebook update].

 Retrieved from https://www.facebook.com/watch/?v=562805664380917 on 18 June 2020.
- Nagel, S. (1986). Efficiency, Effectiveness, and Equity in Public Policy Evaluation. *Policy Studies Review*, 6, 99-120.

- Nieuwenhuys, C. & A. Pécoud, (2007). Human trafficking, information campaigns, and strategies of migration control. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 50, 1674-1695.
- Oeppen, C. (2016). 'Leaving Afghanistan! Are you sure?' European efforts to deter potential migrants through information campaigns. *Human Geography*, 9, 57-68.
- Patton, M. Q. (1997). *Utilization-focused Evaluation: The New Century Text*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Parkhurst, J. (2016). *The Politics of Evidence: From Evidence-Based Policy to the Good Governance of Evidence*. Routledge: London, United Kingdom.
- Pawson, R., et al. (2005). Realist review: A new method of systematic review designed for complex policy interventions. *Journal of health services research & policy*, 10, 21-34.
- Pécoud, A. (2010). Chapter nine: Informing Migrants to Manage Migration? An Analysis of IOM's Information Campaigns. In: Geiger, M. & A. Pécoud (eds.). *The Politics of International Migration Management* (p. 184-202). Palgrave & Macmillan: London, United Kingdom.
- Pécoud (2018). What do we know about the International Organization for Migration? *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 44, 1621-1638.
- Peters, J., J. Langbein & G. Roberts (2016). Policy evaluation, randomized controlled trials, and external validity A systematic review. *Economic Letters*, 147, 51-54.
- Schans, D. & C. Optekamp (2016). *Raising awareness, changing behavior?* Wetenschappelijk Onderzoeks-en Documentatiecentrum. Ministerie van Justitie & Veiligheid: The Hague, the Netherlands.
- Scholten, P. & F. van Nispen (2008). Building Bridges Across Frames? A Meta-Evaluation of Dutch Integration Policy. *Journal of Public Policy*, 28, 191-205.
- Schulz (2014). Logic of Consequences and Logic of Appropriateness. In: Augier, M. & D. Teece (Eds.) *Palgrave Encyclopedia of Strategic Management*. Stanford University Press: Stanford, United States of America.
- Strauss, A., & Corbin, J. (1990). *Basics of qualitative research*. Sage publications: New York, United States of America.
- Tjaden, J., S. Morgenstern and F. Laczko (2018). Evaluating the Impact of Information Campaigns in the Field of Migration. *Central Mediterranean Route Thematic Report Series*. IOM, Geneva.
- Tjaden, J. D. Auer & F. Laczko. (2019). Linking Migration Intentions with Flows: Evidence

- and Potential use. International Migration, 57, 36-57.
- Turnpenny et al. (2008). Why is integrating policy assessment so hard? A comparative analysis of the institutional capacities and constraints. *Journal of Environmental Planning and Management*, 51, 759-775.
- Vermeulen, M. (2020, 19 January). 'Europe is the promised land and nothing will convince these migrants otherwise'. *The Correspondent*. Retrieved on 23 February

 2020 from: https://thecorrespondent.com/235/europe-is-the-promised-land-and-nothing-will-convince-these-migrants-otherwise/31078335695-31614e0c.
- Sanderson, I. (2000). Evaluation in Complex Policy Systems. *Evaluation*, 6, 433-454.
- Selm, van J. (2008). 'How is Migration Policy Evaluated?' In: Ardittis, S. & Laczko, F. (eds.) Assessing the Costs and Impacts of Migration Policy: An International Comparison. International Organization for Migration.
- Schengenvisainfo (2019, July 3). EU Commission Rejects Netherlands' Request to Reintroduce Visas for Albania. *Schengen Visa Info News*. Retrieved from:

 https://www.schengenvisainfo.com/news/eu-commission-rejects-netherlands-request-to-reintroduce-visas-for-albania/ on 19 June 2020.
- Schmidt, V. (2008). From Historical Institutionalism to Discursive Institutionalism: Explaining Change in Comparative Political Economy. Working Paper. *Presentation at the 104th Annual Meeting of the American Political Science Association*. Boston: United States of America.
- OHCHR (2014). *Human Rights and Human Trafficking*. *Fact Sheet No. 36*. Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights. New York, USA. Retrieved from: https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/FS36_en.pdf on 12 June 2020.
- Weiss, J. A., & M. Tschirhart, (1994). Public information campaigns as policy instruments. *Journal of policy analysis and management*, 13, 82-119.
- Wesselink, A., H. Colebatch & W. Pearce (2014). Evidence and policy: discourses: meanings, and practices. *Policy Science*, 47, 339-334.
- Wollman, H. 'Policy Evaluation and Evaluation Research'. In: Fischer, F. & G. J. Miller (2017). *Handbook of Public Policy Analysis: Theory, Politics, and Methods*. CRC Press, Taylor & Francis Group: Boca Raton, United States of America.
- Youssef, C. (2019). Adaptive theory: an underutilised approach to sexual offender research. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 19, 171-184.

Appendices

Appendix I: list of analysed documents

General

Document name	Type of document
Dijkhoff, K. & L. Ploumen (2017, 22 March).	Policy document
WODC onderzoek informatiecampagnes	
[Letter to the House of Representatives].	
Accessed on:	
https://www.rijksoverheid.nl/documenten/rapp	
orten/2017/03/22/tk-bijlage-raising-awareness-	
changing-behavior on 1 February 2020	

Migrants as Messengers

Document name	Type of document
Dunsch, A.F., J. Tjaden & W. Quiviger (2019).	Evaluation document – to be downloaded
Migrants as Messengers – The Impact of Peer-	from:
to-Peer Communication of Potential Migrants	https://publications.iom.int/books/migran
in Senegal. Impact Evaluation Report. Geneva:	ts-messengers-impact-peer-peer-
International Organisation for Migration &	communication-potential-migrants-
GMDAC – IOM's Global Migration Data	<u>senegal-impact</u>
Analysis Centre.	
Ministerie van Buitenlandse Zaken (2018).	Policy document – to be requested at the
Buitenlandse Handel en	Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the
Ontwikkelingssamenwerking: Theory of	Kingdom of the Netherlands
Change, Migratie en Ontwikkeling Narratief.	
the Hague, the Netherlands	
Ministerie van Buitenlandse Zaken (2020).	Policy document – to be requested at the
Annual Plan 2020. Results Framework	Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the
Migration & Development. Ministerie van	Kingdom of the Netherlands
Buitenlandse Zaken: the Hague, the	
Netherlands	

Preventing Unsafe Migration from Albania towards the European Union Member States

Document name	Type of document
Nepravishta, R. (2018). Final evaluation	Evaluation document – to be requested at
report: Project 'Preventing unsafe migration	OIG/Evaluation at Headquarters IOM
from Albania towards European Union	(eva@iom.int)
member states. International Organisation for	
Migration: Tirana, Albania.	

IOM (2018). Evaluation Brief: Final	Evaluation document – to be requested at
evaluation of the project: 'Preventing unsafe	OIG/Evaluation at Headquarters IOM
migration from Albania towards European	(eva@iom.int)
Union member states. Tirana: International	
Organisation for Migration.	
Pema, S. (2018). Media reporting on Migration	Evaluation document – to be requested at
Issues in Albania: Monitoring/Research study.	OIG/Evaluation at Headquarters IOM
International Organisation for Migration:	(eva@iom.int)
Tirana, Albania.	
Joosten, C. (2016). 'Topvrouw Justitie: Het	Newspaper article
kinderpardon frustreerde ons werk'. Elsevier	
Weekblad, 10 November 2016. Accessed via	
LexusUni on 19 May 2020.	
-	